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Strategic Report

introduction

The directors present the Group Strategic Report for the year ended 31 March 2023,
Business review

Overview

The Notse Group provides a comprehensive range of integrated f[aciliies muanagement services to the
public sector. These services are also provided. on a smaller scale, into the private sector on a selective
basis {where resources and capabilities fit the needs of customers along with organisatonal culture).

‘The Group was established 10 enable public sector clients to access the economies of scale and expertise
of a commercially operated solution, whilst sharing in the returns generated. Norse Group 1s the largest
Local Authonty Trading Company (LATCo) in the UK, providing services to over 2,100 customers
including Local Authorities, NHS Trusts, Schools and other public sector bodies, as well as a tange of
commercial businesses,

Notse Group operates four (2022 four) core corporate divisions:

Cote divisions:

* Norse Commercial Services — providing nationwide services across three main secilors, Facilities
Maintenance & Management (soft and hard), Environmental Services and Highways Maintenance
services,

s  Norse Consulting Group (previously NPS Property Consultants) — providing a range of property
consultancy and design services across the UK including Architectural, Construction Design and
Management (CDM), Project Management, Building Surveying, Valuation and Estate Management,
Land Agency and Quantity Surveying amongst others.

® Norse Care — providing care setvices including the management and staffing of residential and
nursing care homes, dementia care facilities, and housing with care schemes across Norfolk.

*  Norse Group Holdings — a capital asser holding company of the Group, provides land and buildings
as well as holding the Group’s investiments in photovoltaic renewable energy infrastructure.

Pcople

Our people remain at the heart of vur organisation. Despite a tight labour market, we have seen a positive
increase in both recruitment and retention across the Group. Whilst recruitment in Norse Care was by the
far the most challenging (a national sector trend), by the end of the year we had made significant progress
in filling posts which had been covered by agency staff since the COVID-19 pandemic.

Inflation and associated cost of living pressures are a significant issue for many of our staff. We have
engaged proactively in cost of living pay ncgotiations, whilst at the same time seeking to ensure we can
continuc o offer competitively priced services for our customers,
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Group I'rading

Revenues of £358.6m were achieved in the vear, against £345.1m in 2022, a small increase of 3.9%. This
was mainly due to new contracts being awarded with local authorities in Norse Commercial Services
where revenues have increased in the vear to £278.4m compared to £249.7m i 2022, This increase has
been partially offser by the reducten in revenue in Notse Consultng Group, down from £60.3m in 2022
ta £42.3m this yeat, due to fewer commissions being awarded.

Gross profit was £64.6m in the year; a £2.0m increase on 2022, This was mainly due to increased revenue
within Norse Commercial Services. The gross profit margin has slightly decreased from 18.1% in 2022 o
18.0% in 2023. Adjusted gross profit margin {see table on page 12) has decreased from 18.5% 1n 2022 1o
18.1% in 2023, This decrease arcse from inflationary cost pressures impacting profitability within Norse
Commercial Services.

A significant contdbuting factor to the yvear end position is the non-recurring expense relating to the
decision to impair investments within Norse Enetgy (photovoltaic panel schemes) by £4.6m. This led to a
loss before tax of £8.5m, compared to a loss before tax of £12.7m in 2022 (during which the Group
recognised non-recurring expenses of £11.9m relating to the impaitment of property). These non-
recurring expenses have been realised to ensure the Group is well-placed for future, sustainable growth, as
the Senior Management Team drive forward the Group’s newly developed strategy.

Adjusted profit before tax has reduced from a profit of £1.4m 1 2022 to a loss of £29m 1n 2023. This is
mastly the result of challenges within Notse Care, notably reductions in care home occupancy and
increased staffing costs, offset by the net inctease to adjusted profit seen in other areas of the Group as

noted above.
Resilience

The approach to COVID 19 both demoenstrated and developed the Group’s resilience capabilities. Risk
and resilence planning has become an integral functon of our SHEQ (Safety, Health, Environment and
Quality) departiment, with corporate risk management being driven through the Group via both our
Integrated Management System (IMS) and proactve management from the SHEQ department. The
Group will enhance this further in the next financial year a5 we recruit a full-time Risk and Resilience
Manager. The Board has also decided to broaden the remit of irs Audit Committee to include corporate

risk management.

Key performance indicators

In order to gain a true refleciion and appreciation of the Norse Group's trading activities, the financial key
performance indicators {'KPIs”) are most usefully stated before the impact of pension adjustmnents made
under the accounting standard IAS 19, (acmatial valuations of the Group’s defined benefit schemes; and
other non-recurting costs. KPIs are included within this report, incorporating the aforementioned
adjustments.
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Strategic Report

‘The KPTs for the year to 31 March 2023 and 2022 for the Norse Group are as follows:

€

2023 2022
Revenue (000 358,623 345,060
Gross profit per the financial statements (£°000} 64,578 62,578
Gross profit margin per the financal statements 18.0% 18.7%
IAS 19 pension adjustment (see note 27) (£'000) 379 1,210
Adjusted gross profit (£000) 64,957 63,788
Adiusted grosi profit margin 18.1% 18.5%
Profit/ (loss) before tax per the finandal statements ({000) (8,517) (12,698)
[AS 19 pension adjustment (see note 27) (£°000) 1,123 2,188
Non-recurring admin (incotne)/expense (see note 4) (£7000) 4,491 11,875
Adjusted profit/(loss) before tax {£000) {2,903) 1,365
Adjusted profit/ (luss) margin (0.5%) 0.4%
Profie/(loss) aftet tax per the financial statements (£ 000) (5,815) (13,717)
Average monthly employee numbers 8,138 8,723
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Strategic Report

The following section outlines some ot the key aspects of performance, by division, during the vear.

Norse Commercial Services

Norse Commercial Services (NCS) specialises in the provision of faciliies management services,
environmental scrvices, and highways maintenance to local authorties via Norse Group’s unique
partnership model. NCS also provides similar services to the wider public sector including education and
healthcare, the third sector targets select private sector clients via competitive tendering,

NCS has developed a broad range of service lines as the company has grown. Soft FM services include
cleaning, cateting, security and passenger transport services. Hard FM includes maintenance of corporate
buildings and sodal housing. Environmental services provision is also wide ranging, including refuse
collection, waste transfer and treatment (via Norse Group’s Materials Recycling Facility), management of
houschold waste services and street cleansing.

NCS has continued to see growth during the year with overal]l revenues increasing by £287m or 11.5%.
This has been driven by two new joint ventures starting in 2022/23; Alliance Norse {delrvetring building
maintenance, cleaning and caretaking services}, and Rochford Norse (delivering cavironmental services).

Despite the growth in revenues, the gross profit margin decreased from 17.4% to 16.6% and adjusted
gtoss margin has decreased from 17.9% to 16.7%. This is predominantly driven by higher matetial, labour
and fuel costs experienced actoss NCS during a period of high infladon. Whilst many costs could be
passed back to customers, some were also absorbed. The adjusted profit margin has fallen to 0.1% (from
2.1%0 in 2022}

Average employee numbers have decreased throughout the year. Despite new joint ventures starting in
the year, Wellingborough Norse ceased activites at the end of March 2022, resulung in a lower net
number of employees. The main provision of services in catering, cleaning and transport struggled to
recruit new staff due to the wider challenging recruitment market throughoutr much of the year. This is
indicative of a wider national trend which began to ease rowards the end of the year.

Norse Consuiting Group
The principal activity of Norse Consulting Group (INCG) 15 the supply of property management services.

Revenues fell significantly during the year, partly due to the end of the NPS Notwich JV which reached
the end of its 10 year term on the 31 March 2022. This coincided with the end of NPS Peterborough JV
as at the 31 January 2023 and end of the NPS Humber JV(again reaching the natural end of contract term)
which ceased on the 31 March 2023, These JVs maturing close to each other {a consequence of aligned
start and renewal dates), combined with funding uncertainties from central govemment for numerous
protects which NCG are supporting local authority customers with, has resulted in revenues falling by
£18.2m to £42.3m for 2023 (from £60.5m in 2022}, This is a 30% reduction from the previcus yeat.

However, despite this teduction in revenues, the Gross Profit Margin increased from 25.1% ih 2022 to
31.0% in 2023, as the business adjusted irs cost base accordingly. The adjusted gross margin has also
increased to 30.7% (from 25.1% in 2022). The business model in place supporss fluctuations in revenue
through using a mix of direct delivery alongside consultants or sub-contractors. This allows variable direct
costs to flex with revenue movements.

Profit before tax has increased from a £8.4m loss in 2022 to a £2.5m profit in 2023. This is partly due to
the ability to reduce costs when revenues fluctuate as noted above. However, there were also other
notable costs incurred in 2022 that have not repeated in 2023. These include costs related to work within
the archaeological unit, and, most notably, non-recurting expenses of £4.1m relating to the impairment of
goodwill. Adjusted profit before rax has therefore increased from £3.9m loss in 2022 to a profit of £2.6m

in 2023,
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Average employee numbers fell from 1,211 m 2022 to 804 in the current yvear. This is due to the cessation
of contracts noted above, and the subsequent move to a more tlexible resourcing model.

MNorse Care

Norse Care (NC) runs residental care homes and supports housmg with care schemes across Norfolk.
This includes provision of care and specialist dementia care services under contract to Notfolk County

Council, and 2 small number of private customets.

Revenue increased by 5.7%, taking it to £46.2m (from £43.7m in 2022). This is a result of both increased
income from privately paying clients and contractual uplifts.

The challenges of COVID-19 have continued to impact care homes and in particular the increased usage
of agency staff due to a natonal shortage of care workers. Controlling agency spend has been a major
challenge for the business throughout the year. However, desp1te these cost increases, the additional
revenues noted above were sufficient to result in gross profit margins and adjusted gross profit margins
increastug Lo 10.2% (from 6.6% in 2022). Additionally, costs began to tall tn the last quarter of the year as
directly employed staff numbets increased, therefore reducing the reliance on agency staff.

Whilst the gross profit margins have increased as noted above, the profit before tax and adjusted profit
before tax has decreased from a loss of £0.4m in 2022 to a loss of £4.1m in 2023. Consequenty, the
adjusted profit margin has decreased from -0.8% in 2022 to -8.8% in 2023. A key reason for this decrease
is that Infection Control Funding (IC[F) ended on the 31/03/22 (previously reccived to help support the
additional costs Incurted during the year as a result of the pandemic, reported within Other Tncome).
Whilst the year was financially challenging for Norse Care, the business and wider Norse Group rerain
committed to providing services within the Norfolk care market and are designing a furure strategy to
ensure a return to long-term profitability.

Average employee numbers reduced slightly from 1,657 in 2022 to 1,612 in 2023. However, this figure
does not account for the large number of agency workers utilised duting the year in response to the
national challenge regarding recruiting care workers.

Norse Group Holdings Group

Norse Group Holdings (INGH} was established to hold companies whose actvities relate predominately
to the holding of capital assets (more specifically land, buildings, and photovoltaic schemes). These
activities are considered non-operational in nature and so are not aligned to three main Norse Group
companies (INCS, NCG, and NC).

The four companies that were acquired on 31 March 2021 were - International Aviation Academy —
Norwich Limited, Norse Development Company Limited and Norse Enerpy Limited (from Norse
Consulting), and Norfolk Environmental Waste Services Limired (from Norse Commercial Services).

During the year, NGH recognised an Linpairment loss of £4.6m in relation to the photovoltaic panels held
as Property, Plant and Equipment in Norse Energy Limited. This is based on the net present value (NPV)
of future cashflows generated by these assets being less than the carrying values. In 2022, NGH
recognised an impairment of £7.5m in respect of a property in Norse Development Company Limired.
Recognising these impairments was a strategic decision by the Senior Management ‘l'eam and Board of
Directors to ensure the new Group strategy builds long-term profitability.

The KPT’s for the year ended 31 March 2023 in comparson to 31 March 2022, include revenue which has
decreased from £3.6m to £3.3m as long-term tenancies were agreed for one of the property assets. Gross
Profit Margin decreased from 27.7% to 20.5% as a result of the decrease in income. The adjusted profit
margin decreased from 11.2% to (1.0%) loss as a combined result of the decrease in revenue and the

impairment in both 2022 and 2023,
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Outliook and future deveiopments

As the largest local authority trading company (ILATCa) in Britain, ensuring we put people at the heart of
what we do will remain integral to growth via our ethical value proposition for cur stakeholders and

shareholder.

Future business growth will continue to provide services in support of communities across England,
Seuduud, and Wiales. Our sales pipeline shows a mix of district, county and unitary councils as prospective
new customers during the next 2 financial years.

As part of our business model, we will remain commirted to ensuring we offer pecple from the
communities we scrve employment and development opportunities.

We antcpate growth in provision of [rontine services via Norse Commercial Services, with a surong
focus on environmental service provision, This is a result of our increasing reputational strength and
tightening market conditions for private sector contractors. Norse Consulting Group will continue to
provide services incloding Tstate Manugement, Surveying, Architecture and Design. These services will
increasingly be provided via a traditional consultancy basis, rather than a joint venture approach (in line
with local authority market trends for property services). Additionally, Norse Consuldng Group will
continue to grow its Net Zero capabilities as demand for such services increases (with 2 particular focus
on property retrofit and carbon audiung)}.

Norse Care remains an essential patt of the Group, and work will confinue to ensure a long term
profitable model that meets the general trend of increasingly complex care needs.

In addition to these key areas of business activity we will continue to grow our wholly owned brands in
areas including facilities management and assistive technologies.

Our service portfolio and public sector ethos will combine in ways which allow us to focus on ensuring
the safety of residents within the communities we serve.

Principal risks and uncertainties

As part of its overall governance, the Group has a number of risk management and internal control
procedures to ensure that it manages risk appropriately at every level within the business, from those
specific to individual work tasks, to those for business units, to overall strategic risks across the Group

and its mdustries.

The Group’s tisk approach s overseen by the Audit Committee, a sub-commitiee of the Board. The
business proactively manages risk, udlising a full-time nisk manager to ensure both operagonal and
corporate risks are identified and managed. Key corporate risks are summarised below:

Infrastructure Risk

Resilience of the Group’s infrastructure is also key. given an ever-increasing focus on technology as a
fundamental part of operations. The Gtoup ensutes investment is complimented by rigorous training and
testing to ensure its infrastructure is robust. As part of the Group’s business contnuity planmng, a
detailed disaster plan is also reguiarly reviewed. These measures compliment cyber and dara security.

Health & Safety Risk

A proactive, focused, well-resourced approach to health and safety is fundamental to the Norse Group’s
operations. Training, guidance and resource ensure that the business Is not only compliant with
regulations, but wherever possible aiming to achieve best practice. The Group continues on irs journey for
certification to [SO 45001, with accreditation planned for 2025.
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Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)
Continuity and Growth

The continuity and growth of the Group requires both repeat and new business, whilst also ensuring
retention of good staff.

The 5-year plan, which implements the Group’s strategy, will contdnue to help achieve this.
Implementation of the People Plan, a gtass roots review of our values and brand, and significant
investment in our back-office systems will condnue throughout the new financial year as essential strategic
steps.

Despite reduced funding across the public sector, the need to ensure good governance of our joint
ventures, and offering solutions which help customers achieve “Net Zero” will continue to increase. The
Group will therefore contnue to develop these capabilides and build them in to the services it offers.

In addidon to these measures, the Group will continue to work towards formal certificaion of its
Integrated Management System (IMS) to ISO 9001, 14001, and 45001. These accreditations, along with
more specialised accreditations such as Cyber Essentials Plus will ensure market confidence for both new

and existing customers.

Marketng of the Group’s diverse range of services will continue to evolve, easuring the consistent
promotion of the Group to maintain a strong sales pipeline.

Financial risk
Given the nature of the Group’s contracts and services, financial risks reside largely within either a failure
to perform the scrvices appropriately, or through the failure to manage operational performance

appropriately. These risks are managed through relevant reporting, the ongoing review of performance,
and the management of controls and authority limits within the business.

Pure financial risk is considered below average due to the largely UK focused basis of the Group’s
operations and its public sector client base. The key areas of concern summarised below:

*  Credit risk: whilst credit checks are performed along with debtor management through the use of
credit imits and the monitoring of the aging of debtor balances with appropriate follow-up action
taken, the majority of clients are public sector organisations and present limited credit risk.

¢ Interest rate risk: an element of fixed rate borrowing is undertaken within the wider portfolio to
manage this risk. Rates are reviewed regularly where floating rates present some exposute to SONIA
ot the wider market to ensure these are approprate and do not present a material risk to the business.

e Liquidity tisk: working capital is managed carefully, with cash forecasts produced to provide daily as
well as medium to long-term projections. These are used (o ensure the Group holds appropriate levels
of working capiral facilities.

* Currency risk: as the Group operates solely within the UK with almost ne foreign currency
transactions, and as such has negligible exposure any foreign currency exchange risk.

e Defincd Benefit Pension risk: the nature of public sector services often comes with Local

Government Pension Schemes (T.GPS) which heing Defined Benefit schemes carry considerable risk,
The Group no longer accepts this risk for new contracts and through its agreements passes this risk
bzack to the client where it can often be more effective for both the client and the Group.
‘There remains a legacy element where some residual LGDPS risk remains with the Group. These
schemes and the risk from them are closed to new members and in run off. The Group continually
looks at ways to further minimise and reduce this risk, either through agreeing to pass rhis back to
clients, ot where retained, options for any further mirigacion.
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Corporate governance

The Group continues to promote good corporate governance reporting under 5.172 of the Compantes
Act 2006.

The GIOUP,S corporate gOVEl’I’lﬂl’lCt‘. structure oW operates as fo].lows:

- Chairperson — aversight of the Board and its meetings, appeinted by the uldmate shareholder Norfolk
County Council, who also authotise the appointment of any dircctor to the Beatd of the Group.

- Non-executive directors — appointed to chair advisory committees to the Board and provide an
external perspective to the main Group Board.

- Audit Committee — aversight of the internal audit and external audit scope and findings, as well as the
Group’s risk management systems.

- Remuneration Committec -~ review the remuneration policy and related decisions in respect of the
directors of the Group.

- {Care Advisory Board — oversight of key operational areas including compliance.

In addition to this governance structure, certain matters are reserved for the ultimate shareholder’s
approval, to ensure additional oversight, and governance of the Group. This is further enhanced with
enhanced voting rights for directors which are also officers and members of Norfolk County Council.

The Directors of the Company, as those of all UK companies, must act in accordance with a set of
general duties. These dunes are demailed in secdon 172 of the UK Companies Act 2006 which is

summartsed as follows:

‘A drrector of a company must act in the way they consider, in good faith, would be most likely to
promote the success of the company for the benefit of irs shareholder as a whole and, in doing so have

regard (amongst other matters) to:

o  the likely consequences of any decisions in the long-term;

& the interests of the company’s employees;

® the need to foster the company’s business relationships with suppliers, cusromers and others;

s the impact of the company’s operation on the community and environment;

s the desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for high standard of business conduct; and

e the need to act fairly as between shareholder of the Company.

These duties are fulfilled in many different ways, as already noted within this report, to support the
Continuity and Growth of the Group the reputation is of critical importance and one of the primary risks
for the Group in the longer term.

Joint venture partnerships the Group has with local authorities are governed by formal board meetings to
ensure stakeholders are actively enpaged and that entities are well-governed.
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Corporate governance {continued)

Following on from the formation of the senior management team in 2021, the management structure has
contnued to develop with the appointment of a Group wide Chief Operating Officer and a Group
Strategic Business Development Director. Both roles work with the senior team to ensure there 13 strong
leadership and governance in place.

The pritnary aim is to ensure the wider Group has better representation and a “voice at the table’, and that
these leaders can more effecdvely represent your key issues and chalienges. They will then sponsor any
actions, task groups or projects to try and resolve these with you.

It’s also just one of the ways the Directors intend to ensure they are getting a better take on what it feels
for the staff ‘out there’ across the Group, and to break down the perception of any invisible barriers
between the most senior managers and those running our reams and services.

In addition to this, the Group recognises 2 number of unuons in management of its operations to ensure
that its employees are fairly considered in the Group’s actvities, with the Group’s HR Director attending
meetings of the Board of the Group 1o ensure that this aspect is considered in the decision making
process.

Further elements of employee engagement, along with those regarding suppliers and customers, are noted
within the Repott of the directors.

Each year the Group produces a business plan, which considers all of these aspects and which iz done in
discussion with the Group’s ultimate shareholder, to ensure that the interests of the shareholder are
reflected 1n the Group’s plans, which with the addition in recent years of the non-executive directors has
further aided the challenge and scrutiny of these plans to ensure that the Directors’ responsibilities are
met.

In making their decisions, the Directors consider both the immediate and long-term consequences of the
options under consideration, with the latest business plan projecting forward to 2028 to give suffictent
forward visibility of the Group. The Group’s wider strategy is reviewed as part of this process to cnsure
that it is fully reflected within this business planning exercise.

The Group’s energy position is reflected in the Report of the directors, given the nature of services the
envitonmentz] impact waste and is collection, along with the method of delivery of services is continually
considered, from assessing the viability of electric refuse wvehicles to how solutnons are undertaken to

reduce their environmental impact.

The approach to the environmental impact naturally moves into the Group’s enpgagement with the
community wherever it has a presence. With the services being delivered often on behalf of the council
for that ares, the ptocurement approach with supphers seeks to priotitise local suppliers where possible to
ensure that through the local employment, this use of local suppliers and way in which services are
delivered, that the services give back to that community in many ways.

This report was approved by the board and signed on its behalf by:

T FL C Galliford
Chief Executive Officer

PEe 3o ]2023
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Financial statements fer the year ended 31 March 2023

Report ot the directors

The directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2023.

Principal activities

Norse Group Limited is 2 holding company for the Norse Group, which comprises the following:
s Notse Commercial Services (NCS) a facililes management and environmental services specialist;
s  Norse Consulting Group (NCG), which otters mult-disaipline property and design services;
e Norse Care (NCL}, which provides specialist care facilities and services; and
* Norse Group Holdings (NGH), which is predominantly a holding company for capital assets of
the group.
The full list of subsidiaries is included in note 5 to the company financial statements.

Results and dividends
The loss for the financia! year, after taxation, was £5.8m (2022: £13.7m loss).
Dividends of {Nil were paid during the year (2022: fNil).

As at 31 March 2023 the consolidated statement of financial position showed net assets of £41.7m (2022:
£26.9m).

Matters covered in the group strategic report

The following sections are included within the group strategic report:

Business review

Outlook and future developments

Key performance indicators

Principal risks and uncertainties

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The directors

The directors of the company who were in office during the vear and up to the date of signing the
consolidated financial statements were:

A ] Proctor (resigned 22 May 2023)

S J Hardwick {resigned 1 April 2023)

B G McCarthy *

N E Frogbrook (resigned 26 April 2022)

G A Porter *

J FL C Galliford (appointed 26 April 2022)
A CWood *

Z Repman (appointed 3 August 2022}

C Dearden (appointed 1 April 2023 and resigned on 18 April 2023)
G F Peck (appointed 8 September 2023)

C Dearden {appointed 21 September 2023)

* non-executive director
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Reporr of the directors

Qualifying third party indemnity insurance

The group maintains Lability insurance for its directors and officers. The directors and officets have also
been granted a qualifying third party indemnity provision under section 234 of the Companies Act 2006
which is in force to the date of approval of the financial statements. Neither the group's indemnity nor
msorance provides cover in the event that 2 director or officer 1s proved fo have acted fraudulently or

dishonestly.
Employee involvement

The directors recognise the importance of the employees to the on-going success of the Group and they
ensure that they are all suitably qualified to undertake their roles and responsibilities. The recruitment and
retention of employees is a key group objective and once employees have been recruited, all necessary

training is put into place including:

Inducnon coutse

Customer care training

Continuous training and development for professional employecs
Business related taining as identified via the appraisal of employees
*  Management training as appropriate

* Personal development

The Group continues 10 keep employees informed of martters affecting them as employees and the
financial and economic factors affecting the performance of the Group. These matiers are communicated
via emadl, through staff meenngs and group wide publications.

To ensure visibility of engagement with employees, the Group undertakes an annual employee survey, as
well as monitoring various KPI's in respect of its employees, from sickness and absence to retention and
exit surveys of those leaving to ensure it is actively aware of potential issues and can improve overall

employee engagement.

Disabled employeces

Applications for employment by disabled persons are given full and fair consideraton for all vacancies in

accordance with their particular aptitudes and abilities. In the event of employees becoming disabled,
every effort is made to retrain them in order that their employment with the group may continue. It is the
policy of the group that training, career development and promotion opportunitics should be available to

all empioyees.
Engagement with customers

The Group naturally has a close relationship with its clients, many of whom are shareholders of one or
more of the Group’s companies that deliver services to those clients. This enables not only engagement
with clients at an operational level, but within the regular board meetngs heid for those companies, at a
more strztegic level with those clients.
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Report ot the directors

Engagement with suppliers

Suppliers zre engaged with through the Group’s procutement team, cnabling more strategic engagement
with suppliers, as well as local engagement through the operational management teams delivering the
services. The Group secks to offer many of the public secror’s policies in terms of the fair and ethical
treatment of suppliers, with relatively favourable payment terms offered to suppliers and ensures suppliers
are dealt with fairly and appropnately through the oversight of the Group’s procurement ream.

The Group endeavours to pay all suppliers within the terms of their invoice.
Greenhouse gas emissions, energy consumption and energy efficiency action

The following secton reports on the greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions that Norse Group Limited ts
responsible for, as required by the Companies (Directors’ Report) and Limited Liability Partnerships
(Energy and Carbon Report) Reguladons 2018. The reporting period for the GHG emissions is 1 April
2022 to 31 March 2023.

Norse Group has calculated its Scope 1, 2 and Scope 3 emissions for buildings and transport. For the
2022/23 reporting year, well to tank emissions have also been caleulated and included 2gain to provide a
fuller picture of the impact of the opetations. Furthermore, emissions assoctated with the combustion of
oil, LPG and biomass for heating have been included for addinonal iransparency. ‘Out of Scope’
emissions have also been reported for biomass heaung. These are the COZ2 emissions resultng from
burning wood chips. In-scope catbon accounting methods report these emissions as zero as it is assurned
they will be caprured by future tree growth. If the biomass is not from a sustainable source, they would
represent a large source of CO2 emissions.
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Repore of the direcrors

Greenhouse gas emissions, energy consumption and energy efficiency action

{continued}
Table 3.1 2023 2022
Energy consumption
Total energy consumed (mWh) 80,448 86,399
Greenhouse gas emissions
Scope 1
Emissions from combustion of gas (tCOge) 1,854 2,297
Emissions from combustion of Kerosene, LPG and Biomass {tClze) for
building usage — not mandatorily reported 299 386
Emissions from combustion of fuel for plant (1COz2e) 177 1,133
Emissions from combustdoen of fuel for transport (1COze) 13,728 13,147
Scope 2
Emissions from purchased electricity (tCOze) 1,536 1,795
Scope 3
Emissions from the WTT of combustion of Kerosene, LPG and Biomass
(tCOze) for building usage - not mandatorily reported 92 124
Emisstons from business travel only (tCO,e) 565 567
Gross emissions 17,860 18,939
Emissions reductions from renewsble energy exports (tCOze) (1,536} (1,638}
Net emissions 16,324 17,301
Intensity ratio
Toral tCQOze per £1m of revenue 45.464 50.673
Outside scope

373 521

Emissions from the combustion of biomass (net zero)
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Methodology

In prepating and reportiug its Grecuhouse Gas Inventory, Norse Group has adopted the {ollowmg
protocols:

s The Greenhouse Gas Protocol Corporate Accounting and Repotting Standard (Revised Edition]

¢ ‘The Greenhouse Gas Protocol Scope 2 Guidance

e The March 2019 UK Government’s Environmental Reporting Guidelines

e The 2020 UK Government’s Greenhouse Gas Conversion Factors for Company Reporting

The Group continuously reviews and updates its performance data based on updated carbon emissions
factors, improvements in data quality and updates to estimates previously applied. Where performance has
changed by more than 2%, balances will be re-stated.

Where it has not been possible ro calculate the energy and carbon dara in this report using full metered or
billed data, due to difficulties obtaining data from landlords or a lack of sub metering at shared sites, then
the energy use for buldings has been estimated using a benchmarking process.

With the excepton of NPS Leeds Limited and Rochford Norse Limited, all estimated consumption data
within this 2022/23 report has been calculated using the CIBSE TM46 benchmarking methodelogy.
Building data for NPS Leeds Limited and Rochford Norse Limired have been based on the number of
employees and energy per employee at Evolve Norse Limited and Amber Valley Norse Limited as these

have comparable operations.

All Nogse Group building consumpton data established using the CIBSE TM46 benchmarking
methodology utilises the Gross Internal Area (GIA) data to obtain accurate m® figures for each building,

If there are any periods of missing data, such as a missing quarterly meter reading, then the previous year’s
consumption data for the missing period has been used to estimare the consumpuon data for the period.

Energy Efficiency Action

The Group’s latest Fnergy Saving Opportunity Scheme (ESQOS) audic highlights 2 number of arcas of to
unprove the Group’s energy footprint. These opportunities are cutrenty being reviewed by the board as
part of a wider sustainability strategy.

During the 2022/23 fiscal year (1st April 2022 — 31st March 2023) the following energy reduction
initiatives were undertaken:

*  Recruitment of Group Sustainability Manager to focus Net Zero, Energy Management and ESG.
* Flexible working arrangements continued and has resulted in further optimisanon of space.
* The Group has engaged with Carbon Footprint Limited to establish a baseline and pathway to

decarbonisation of the Group’s operations {see below).
* The Group has looked at training that would benefit employees within the business in relation to

environmental awareness.
Energy Use and Associated Catbon Emissions

Table 3.1 sets out the total Norse Group energy consumption and carbon emissions for the reporting
period from the consumption of fossil fuels, purchased electricity, directly used and exported renewable
electricity, fuel for transport and other energy sources,
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Report of the directors

Reasons for Changes in Enetgy Consumption and Carbon Emissions

This section ot the report contains commentary on any noteworthy vamadons in consumption and

emissions.

Gross emissions from Notse Group operations have slightly reduced year on year by 1,079 tonnes COZ2e
(8.7%). The Norse Encrgy Photovohaic systems that export electricity have generated enough electricity
to offset the emissions related to the electricity purchased by the group.

At the end of 2022/23 a number of buildings were closed, due to space utilisadon measures and the end
of vontracts. These include Evolve Norse Limited and NPS Leeds Lirnited shating offices with their JV
pariners and the end of the Wellingborough contract in April 2022. There has been a general reduction in
energy use across the estate due to the increase in energy prices. The higher prices have encouraged
everyone to be more conservative with their use of energy which has led to a 14% reduction 1n energy use
across the group.

Rochford Norse Limited and Alliance Norse Limited, however, have been established as new operadons
which has shghtly offset the reduction noted above.

The regulations around the use of “red” diesel changed from April 2022 and most of the groups “red”
diesel use has switched to “white” diesel. The systems in place for 2022/23 have not captured the split of
“white” diesel between plant and fleet as the same tank has been used for both. This has led to the
reported reduction from 1,133 (1COze) in 2022 to 177 (tCOhe) in 2023 for emissions relating to plant fuel.
We are, however, wotking with the fuel monitoring company to be able to split fleer and plant use again
for 2023/24,

Targets and Base Year

The Norse Group has established a long-term target to be net-zero by 2030. Catbon Footprint Limited
have been appointed to establish the baseline carbon footprint of Norse Group and 1o set out a science
based pathway to decarbonisation of the group’s operations.

The base year will be 2022/23 as this is the first full year of opetations after COVID-19. This will provide
a realistic understanding of the group’s operatdonal CO2e emissions. The carbon reduction plan will set
out a pathway to 2050. The actions will be broken down in to five year intervalz. This will ensure that
progress is made throughout the period to 2050, tackling the easier areas first, whiist allowing tme for
appropriate solutions to be identified for the more challenping areas of decarbonisadon.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and regulation.

Cormpany law requires the directors to prepate financial statements for each financial year. Under that law
the directors have prepared the group financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted international
accounting standards and the company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101
“Reduced Disclosure Framework™, and applicable law).
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Report of the directors

Under company law, directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and company and of the profit or loss of the
group for that period. In preparing the financial statements, the directors are required to:

e select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

e smte whether applicable UK-adopted internadonal accounting have been followed for the group
financial statements and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 have been
followed for the company financial statements, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements;

*  make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

®  prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it 1s inappropriate to presume
that the group and company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group and company and hence for taking
teasonable steps for the preventon and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient 1o show and
explain the group’s and company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any tme the
financial posidon of the group and company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements

comply with the Companies Act 2006.

Directors” confirmations
In the case of each director in office at the date the directors’ report is approved:

® 50 far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the group’s and

company’s auditors are unaware; and

o they have taken all the steps that they ought to have raken as a ditector in order to make
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and 1o establish thar the group’s and
company’s auditors are aware of that informanoon.
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Report ot the directors

Going Concern

‘The long-term naturc of the Group’s contracts protects the business from significant changes. The
reduction in revenue seen for Norse Consultng in the year is expected to stabilise going forward.

The medium-term projections to 2028 continue to reflect an improving rrading postdon from 2023 and
the directors remain confident thai, whilst revenues will slightly reduce over the next year due to
inflationary pressures on our customers, margins will improve to compensate for reduced revenue,
Addonally, the Group will pursue further growth opportunities o strengthen revenues beyond the
projections.

The directors have completed a going concern assessment to ensure that the Group has appropriately
assessed the potential risks and implications, including financial resources that are required for the
foreseeable future. It also considered a number of severe but plausible scenarios on the following basis:

® The existing budgets have been projected forward, reflecting the loss of any contracts known to be
ending but excluding any new contracts that may be secured, to establish a baseline.

e Each area of the business has then been considered and assessed as to what a severe but realisde
adverse event may occur, such as a significant reduction in revenues or increases in costs, including
the mitigation that would oceur in such an instance.

# The scenarios have been weighted based on senior management judgement to assess the likelthood of
occurrence.

e Inadditton to this, unmitigated impazces have also been considered to assess the potential unpact.

Based on the overall weighted scenarios due to the long-term security of many of the Group’s contracts
and the way it delivers its services and the inherent flexibility in its cost base, the Group’s resources

remain well within the existing working capital resources.

Consequently, the directors have confidence that the Group is well placed to manzge its business risks
successfully despite the current uncertain economic cutlook. Accordingly, it remains appropriate to
prepate the financral statements on a going concern basis.
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Report of the direcrors

Independent auditors

The independent auditors, PricewatethouseCoopers LLP, will be proposed for reappointment in
accordance with section 485 of the Compantes Act 20006.

This repott was approved by the board and signed on its behalf by:

J F L C Galliford
Chief Executive Officer

1310|7073
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Independent auditors’ report to the members
of Norse Group Limited

Report on the audit of the group financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion, Norse Group Limited's group financial statements.

« give a true and fajr view of the state of the group’s affairs as at 31 March 2023 and of its loss and cash flows for the year then ended;
s have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards; and
* have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2008.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Financial Statements (the "Annual Report”), which comprise: the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of cash flows, and the consolidated statement of changes in equily for the year then ended; and the notes to the
financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs (UK)™) and applicable law. Our responsibilities
under 1SAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ respensibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are retevant to our audit of the financial statements
in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfiled our other ethical responsibilities in accerdance with these

requirements.

Conclusions relating to going concern

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or
collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when
the financial statements are authcrised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of
the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusien is not a guarantee as to the group's ability to continue
as a going concern.

QOur responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect o going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our auditors’ repert thereon.
The directors are respensibie for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and,
accordingly, we do hot express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in deing so, consider whether
the other infarmation is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears 10
be materially misstated, If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to
conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other infermation. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. Ve have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strateqic report and Report of the directors, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK Companies
Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain opinions and matters as
described below.

Strategic report and Report of the directors

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic report and Report of the directors
for the year ended 31 March 2023 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

I light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not identify any
matertal misstatements in the Strategic report and Report of the directors.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of directors’ respensibilities in respect of the financial statements, the directors are responsible for
the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate
the group or tc cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with iSAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Imegularities, including fraud, are instances of non-cempliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The exient to which our
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the group and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations
related to UK Tax Legislation, Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974, Employment Legislation, and Building Regulations 2010, and we
considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. We also considered those laws and
regulations that have a direct impact on the financial statements such as the Companies Act 2008. We evaluated management's incentives
and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the
principal risks were related to misstatement of financial information via inappropriate journal entries and/or managernent bias in key accounting

estimates. Audit procedures performed by the engagement team included:
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= Making enquiries with management, including consideration of known or suspected instances of non-compliance with laws and reguiations;
« Reviewing meetings of minutes during the year and up to date approval of the financial statements;

+ Enquiring with management about any litigation and claims and reviewing legal expenses to identify such undisclosed issues;

+ Identifying and testing journals meeting specified criteria considered to be unusual or indicative of potential fraud;

« Evaluating management's controls designed to prevent and detect irregularities; and

« Testing the appropriateness of key estimates made by management to identify any deliberate misstatements in the financial statements.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of non-compliance
with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the financial statements. Also, the risk of not
detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate
concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at
www frc.org.uk/auditorsrespensibilities. This description forms part of our auditors' report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company's members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 ot
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior
consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are raquired to report to you if, in our opinion:

+ we have not cbtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
= certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Other matter

We have reported separately on the company financial statements of Norse Group Limited for the year ended 31 March 2023,

s,

Paul Nerbury (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
East Midlands

13 October 2023
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Conscolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 March 2023
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31 March 31 March

2023 2022

Note L1000 FRLEY

Revenue 3 358,623 345,060
Cost of sales (294,045) (282,482)
Gross profit 64,578 62,578
Administrative expenses — recurring (67,772) (66,693
Admmstrative expenses — non-recurriuy 4 (4,491) (11,875}
Total Administrative expenses (72,263) (78,568)
Other operating income 1,231 5,835
Operating loss 4 (6,454) (10,155)
Recurring (1,963) 1,720
Non-recurring 4 (4,491) (11,875
Share of profit/{Joss) from equity accounted mvestments 8 20 1)
Finance income 9 256 -
Finance costs 10 (2,339 (2,472)
Loss before taxation (8,517) {12,698)
Taxation 11 2,702 (1,019)
Loss for the financial year (5,815) (13,717

Profit/ (loss) for the financial year attributable to:

Non-controlling interests 30 121 1,808
Owners of the parent (5,936) (15,525)
(5,815) (13,717)

All of the acuvities of the group are classed as continuing.

T notes 2o pagnr #2889 oo an rdegrel oot of Msse corsslidadan fas el sinien.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 March 2023

31 March 31 March

2023 2022
Note £1000 L1000
Loss for the financial yeatr (5,815) {(13,717)
Other comprehensive income:
Revaluaton of property, plant and equipment 14 9,308 -
Re-measurement of defined benefit pension liability 27 15,017 22,705
Deferred tax in respect of the remeasurement of the defined benefit
pension scheme 18 (3,784) (5,676)
Movement in deferred tax in respect of pension scheme arising from
change in rates 18 - 2,830
Total other comprehensive income for the yeat, net of tax 20,571 19,859
Total comprehensive income for the year 14,756 6,142

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:

Non-controlling interests 2,210 374
Owners of the parent 12,546 5,568
14,756 6,142

Nene of the items included within other comptehensive income will subsequently be re-classified to the
Income statement.

THE P00 O gaant 2Y in B0 prrosoineegrat afct of L s taset o ata



Horze Group timitsd

Firancial stutemeats for the yoar anded 31 Rfarch 2023

Consolidated statement of financial position

as at 31 March 2023

31 March 31 March
2023 2022
Note(s) £'000 L1000
Assets
Non-cutrent assets
Uoodwill 12 - .
Other intangible assets 13 277 225
Property, plant and equipment 14 67,925 63,187
Right-of-use assets 15 14,382 20,177
Investments accounted for using the equity method 8,16 256 236
Deferred tax asset 18 4,483 8,997
Trade and other receivables 20 11,657 11,781
98,980 104,603
Current assets
Inventories 19 2,519 2,561
Ttade and other receivables 20 65,673 60,139
Cash and cash equivalents 6,521 17,265
Asset held for sale 150 -
74,863 79,965
Total assets 173,843 184,568
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 (61,886) (65,095)
Lease liabilities 23 (4,854) (6,151)
Borrowings 24 (16,480) (18,665)
Provisions 25 (1,916) (7473
(85,136) (90,658)
Non-cuttent liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 (14,599) (14,8306)
Lease liabilides 23 (8,842) {(13,476)
Borrowings 24 (9,476) (10,706)
Pensions and employee benefit obligatons 27 (14,020) (27,914)
Provisions 25 (117) (81)
(47,054) (67,013)
Total liabilities (132,190) (157,671)
Net assets 41,653 26,897
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Consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2023 (continued)

31 Macch 31 March
2023 2022
Note £'000 L1000
Equity
Equi[y atttibutable to vwtiets ol the pratell.
Shate capital 31 11,964 11,964
Revaluation reserve 32 9,775 467
Capital contribution reserve 32 16,200 16,200
Retained earnings/(accumulated losses) 32 2,599 (639)
40,538 27,992
Mon-controlling interests 30 1,115 (1,095)
41,653 26,897

Total equity

These financial statements on pages 22 to 86 wetc approved by the Board of Direcrors and signed on its

behalf by:

1 F L C Galliford
Chief Executive QOfficer

ow13(10] 2023
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 March 2023

28

31 Match 31 March
2023 2022
Note £'600 £'000
Operating activitics
Loss before tax (8,517) (12,698}
Non-cash adjustments 33 20,247 30,724
Contributions to defined benefit pension plans 27 {3,572) (3,552)
Net changes in working capital 33 (3,405) (3,642}
Income tax paid (933) {1,043}
Nert cash generated from operating activities 3,820 9,789
Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (4,936) (3,300)
Purchase of intangible assets (123) -
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1,100 1,304
Proceeds from sale of right-of-use assets 227 604
Intetest received 257 -
Net cash used in investing actvities (3,475) (1,392)
Financing activities
Proceeds from loans from patent undertaking - 3,000
Repayment of bank loans {2,708) (5,554)
Repayment of loan from parent undertaking (707) (3,439
Interest paid (1,407) {1,354)
Capital element of lease repavment (6,267) (7,287)
Net cash uged in financing actvites (11,089) (14,634)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents {10,744) (6,237)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 17,265 23,502
Cash and cash equivalents at the end the year 6,521 17,265
Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
Cash at bank 6,521 17,265
6,521 17,265
T potaf te pspus A9 o BRI gve ze intagral part of these conse’ldetes finenglal sistanioris,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

. General information

The company is a private limited company by shares, incorporated and domiciled in the UK. The address
of its registered office is 280 Fifers Lane, Norwich, Norfolk, NR6 6EQ.

Norse Group comprises Norse Commercial Services Limited, Norse Consulting Group Limited, Norse
Care Limited and Norse Group Holdings Limited. These subgroups deliver many services through
subsidiaries. The full list of subsidiaries s included in note 5 to the company financial starements.

. Summary of accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all of the years presented unless otherwise
stated.

2.1. Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Norse Group Limited have been prepared in accordance
with UK adopted International Accounting Standards and with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006 as applicable ro companies reporting under those standards. The financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost conventon, modified by revaluation of financial assets and liabilities
held at fair value through profit or loss, unless otherwise stated within these accounting policies. The
significant accounting policles that have been applied in the preparation of the consclidated financial
statements are summarised below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with UK-adopted Internatonal Accounting
Standards and with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as applicable to companies reporting
under those standards require the use of certain critical accounting estitnates. Ir also requires management
to exercise judgement in the process of applying the group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a
higher degree of judgement or complexity, ot areas where assumptions and estmates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 2.24.

All amounts in the financial staterments and notes have been rounded off to the nearest thousand Sterhing
Pound, unless otherwise stated.

2.2. Going concern

Going Concern

The long-term nature of the Group’s contracts protects the business from significant changes. The
reduction in revenue seen for Norse Consulting in the year is expected to stabilise going forward.

The medium-term projections to 2028 continue to teflect an improving trading position from 2023 and
the directors remain confident that, whilst revenues will slighdy reduce over the next year due to
inflationary pressures, margins will improve a little to compensate for reduced revenne. Additionally, the
Group will pursue further growth opportunities to steengthen revenues beyond the projections.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

2. Summary of accounting policies {continued)

2.2. Going concern (continued)

To ensure that the Group has approptiately assessed the potential risks and implications, including
financial resources that are required for the foreseeable future, it has considered a number of severe but

plausible scenarios on the fellowing basts:

e The existing budgets have been prajected forward, reflecting the loss of any contracts known to be
ending but excluding any new contracts that may be secured, to establish a baseline.

* Fach area of the business has then been considered and assessed as to what a severe but realistic
adverse event may occur, such as a significant reduction In revenues or increases in costs, including
the mitigat:on that would occur in such an mnstance.

¢ The scenarios have been weighted based on senior management judgement to assess the likelihood of
occurrence.

* In addition to this, unmitigated impacts have also been considered to assess the potenual impact.

Based on the overall weighted scenarios due to the long-term security of many of the Group’s contracts
and the way it delivers its services and the inherent flexibility in its cost base, the Group’s resoutces

remain well within the existing working capital resources.

As a consequence, the directors believe that the Group is well placed to manage its business risks
successfully despite the current uncertain economic outlock. Accordingly, it remains appropriate to
prepare the financial statements on a going concern basts.

2.3. Basis of consolidation

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the parent company and all of its subsidiary
undertakings as at 31 March 2023. The group controls an entity when the Group 1s expected to or has the
right to variable rewurns {rom its investtnent with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
throupgh its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the group. They are deconsolidated from the date on which that control ceases.

All subsidiaries within the Group have a reporting date of 31 March.

All transactions and balances between Group companies are elimimated on consolidation, including
untealised gains and losses on wansactions between Group companies. Amounts reported in the financial
staternents of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting

policies adopted by the Group.

The Income statement and other comptehensive income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year is recognised from the effectve date of acquisition, or up to the effective date of disposal, as
applicable.

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of a subsidiary's income statement and net assets or
liabilittes that is not held by the Group. In accotdance with IFRS 10 2ll earnings and losses of the
substdiary are artributed to the parent and the non-controlling interest in the absence of explicit
agreements to the contrary, even if the attribuion of losses to the non-controlling interest results in a
debit balance in shareholders' equity.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Summary of accounting policies {continued)

2.4. Business combinations

Business combinatons occurring on ot after 1 February 2009 are accounted for using the acquisition
method under the revised IFRS 3 Business Combinatons (IFRS 3R}, The consideranon transferred by
the Group to obtain control of a subsidiary is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
assers transferred, Habilities incutred and the equity interests issued by the Group, which includes the fair
value of any asset or liability ansing from a contingent consideration artangement. Acquisition costs are

expensed as incurred.

The Group recognises identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, including contingent liabilities,
in a business combination regardless of whether they have been previcusly recognised in the acquiree's
financial statements prior to the acquisition. Assets acquired and labilities assumed are generally measured

at their acquisition-date fzir values.

Goodwill is stated after separate recognition of identifiable intangible assets. [t is calculated as the excess
of the sum of 2) fair value of consideration transferred, b) the recognised amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and ¢) acquisition-date fair value of any existing equity interest in the acquiree, over
the acquisition-date fair values of identifiable net assets. Tf the fair values of identifiable net assets exceed
the sum calculated abaove, the excess amount {(i.e. gain on a bargain purchase] is recognised in the Income
statement immediately.

2.5. Investments in associates and joint ventures

Entities whose economic activities are controlled jointly by the Group and other parties independent of
the Group (joint ventures) are accounted for using the using the equity method of accounting.

Within the financial statements the term 'joint venture pattnerships' is used to describe all arrangements
with local authorities. Tt should be noted that under IFRS 11 jont artangemernits only the arrangements
with Beattie Passive Norse Limited, Broadland Growth Limited, Mid Suffolk Growth Limited, Babergh
Growth Limited and Caldecott Developments Limited would meet the accounting definition of a joint
venture.

Acquired investments in joint ventures are also subject to the purchase method as explained in note 2.4
above. However, any goodwill or fair value adjustment attributable to the Group's share in the joint
venture is included in the amount recognised as investment in joint venhures.

All subsequent changes to the Group’s share of interest in the equity of the joint venture are recognised in
the carrying amount of the investment. Changes resulting from the Income statement generated by the
joint venture are reported within 'Share of profit frem equity accounted investments’ in the Income
statement. These changes include subsequent depreciation, amortisation or impairment of the fair value
adjustments of assets and labilities.

Changes resulting from other comprehensive income of the joint venture ot items recognised directy m
the joint venture's equity are recognised in other comprehensive income or equity of the Group, as
applicable.

Unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the Group's interest in those entities. Where unrealised losses are eliminated, the undetlying
asset 1s also tested for impairment losses from a group perspective.

Amounts repotted in the financial statements of joint ventures have been adjusted where necessary to
ensure consistency with the accountng policies of the Group.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Summary of accounting policies {continued)

2.6. Segmental reporting

The Group is not required to include informaton required by IFRS 8 Operating Segments on the
grounds that the entity does not have any debt or equity instruments which are traded in a public marker.

2.7. Revenue

Norse Commercial Services

Facilities Maintenance & Management and transport
The Group catries out a range of faciliies maintenance & management and transport services. For many
of these services {grounds maintenance and waste collection etc)) there is an agreed annual fee and
revenue is recognised as the service is provided throughout the year. The customer pays the fixed amount
based on a payment schedule. If the services rendered by the group exceed the payment, a contract asset is
recognised. If the payments exceed the services rendered, a contract liability is recognised.

The main exceptions to this are noted below:

®  Catering - revenuc is recognised based on the number of meals sold in the year and therefore ar a
point in time.
Security services - revenue is recognised at a point in titne when the event rakes place.
Cleaning services - revenue is recognised based on the number of hours worked, typically on a
monthly basis but varies depending on the contracrual agreement in place.

*  Building maintenance - revenue is recognised using the percentage of completion method by the
percentage of costs incurred to date to the estirnated total costs for each contract.

Envitonmental Services
Revenue from environmentai services arises primarily from the sale of recyclables and the operabon of

landfill sites and composting facilities. Revenue from the sale of recyclables is recognised when control
passes to the customer. Revenue from the operation of landfill sites and composting facilities 1s
recognised in the period in which the waste is delivered and is based on the quantity of the waste that is

disposed of.

Highways Maintenance

Highways maintenance carries out a range of services from providing repair services such as potholes,
verges, signs, drainage, tat & chip and re-surfacing, seasonal gritting and snow removal, vehicle
maintenance of Norfolk Fire and Rescue vehictes, winter gritters and highways vehicles, laboratory testing
and pavement cngineering and lasdy, training courses including Drivers CPC, street works and traffic
management. Sales price is calculated at a cost-plus model and revenue is recognised at a point in time

when the service is delivered.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Summary of accounting policies (continued)
2.7 Revenue (continued)

Norse Consulting Group

Property Consultancy Services

Revenne in respect of providing praperty consultancy services is generally earned under fixed sum
contracts or under [ixed term service agreements. Revenue is recognised using the percentage of
completion method measured by the percentage of costs incurred to date to the estunated total costs for

each contract.

Where contracts/agteements include muliiple performance obligations, the transaction price will be
allocated to each performance obligation based on the stand-alone selling prices. Where these are not
directly observable, they are estimated based on expected cost-plus margin.

Norse Care

Care Services
The Group delivers the management and operation of residential care homes and the provision of care

services. The majority of the services are carried out for an agreed annual fee and revenue is recognised on
a time-elapsed basis as the principal contractual obligation is to provide bed capacaty. Units of care under
these contracts are typically provided on a daily basis.

Revenue for spot purchases and ptivare bed sales ate recognised when the principal contractual obligaton
is fulfilled, that is typically when a service user has received care services, which are usually provided on a
daily basis.

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the promised
goods or services to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one vear. Consequently, the
group does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of money.

Norse Group Holdings

Norse Group Holdings INGH) activites relate predominately to the holding of capital assets such as land
and buildings and investments in renewable energy products. Revenue ks predominantly therefore related
to the rental of assets.

2.8. Finance Income

Finance income is recognised using the effective interest method. When a loan receivable is impaired, the
group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimared future cash flow
discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument and continues unwinding the discount
as interest income. Finance income on impaired loan and receivables is recognised using the orginal
effective interest rate,

2.9. Finance Costs
Finance costs are charged to the Income statement over the term of the debt using the effectve interest

method so that the amount charged is at a constant rate on the carrying amount. Issue costs are inidally
recognised as a reducton in the proceeds of the associated capital instrurment.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Summary of accounting policies {continued)

2.10. Operating expenses

Operating expenses are recognised in Income statement upon atilisation of the service.

2.11. Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or producdon of a qualifying asset
are capitalised during the period of ume that is necessary to complete and prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred and

reported in 'finance costs' (see note 10),

2.12. Goodwill

Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisiion over the Group’s
interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of a subsidiary at the date of acquisition.
Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less accurnulated
impairment losses. It is reviewed for impairment at least annually. Any mparment is recognised
immediately in the Income statement and is not subsequently reversed. Impairment testng is disclosed
further in note 2.16.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. On disposal of a
subsidiary the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the Income statement

on disposal

Goodwill arising on acquisitions before the date of transition to IFRS has been retained at the previous
UK GAAP amounts subject to being tested for impairment at that date.

2.13. Other Intangible assets

Intangible assets are accounted for using the cost model whereby capitalised costs are amortised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, as these asscts are considered finite. Residual values
and useful lives are reviewed at each repotting date. In addition, they are subject to impairment testing as
described in note 2.16.

The amortisation charge for the year is inciuded within adminsstrative expenses. Computer softwate is
amortised at 20% per annum on a straight line basis.

The useful lives are derailed in note 13.



Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Summary of accounting policies (continued)

2.14. Property, plant and equipment

Buildings, plant and machinery, motor vehicles, computer equipment, and other equipment (comprising
tixtares and Httings) are carried ar acquisition cost of manufacturing cost less subsequent depreciation and
impairment losses with the excepton of Care Homes which are carried at revaluation less accumulated
depreciaton.

Depreciation 15 recognised to write down the cost (ot revaluation) less estimated residual value of
property, plant and equipment other than freehold land and assets in the course of constructon. The
petiods generally applicable are:

Freehold & Leasehold Property

I easehold property improvements - over period of lease

Freehold land - not depreciated

Freehaid property - 2% 10% straight line

Care Homes - revaluadon less accumulated depreciation
Plant, fixtures & fittings - 4% - 33% straight line

Motor vehicles - 0% - 50% straight line

Compuler equipment - 20 — 25% straight line

Assets in the coutse of construction - not depreciated

Leased assets are depreciated over the life of the lease.

Gains or losses adsing on the disposal of properry, plant and equipment are derermined as the difference
between the disposal proceeds and the cartying amount of the assets and are recognised in the Income
statement within "administrative expenses.

Care Homes are considered a separate class of assets, and there has been a change of accounting policy on
31 March 2023 to carty these at revaluation less accumulated depreciation. Revaluations are carried out
every 3-5 years as the fair value of Care Homes is not expected to experience significant or volatile
changes and therefore this is deemed sufficient to ensure that carrying values do not differ significantly
from the fair value.

Previously, the Care Homes transfetred in from Norfolk County Council were not depreciated as the
directors considered that the carrying values would not be significantly different to the residual values and
any depreciation charges would not be material. The new accounting policy is more appropriate as it
brings consistency ta the accounting treatment of land and buildings across the group and 8 consistenr
with TAS16 Propetty, Plant and Equipment. Refer note 14 for further detail.

When the Care Homes are revalued, the carrying amount of the assets is adjusted to the revalued amount.
At the date of the tevaluation the accumulated depreciation s eliminated against the gross carrying
amount of the asset.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Summary of accounting policies (continued)
2.15. Leased assets

Lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of use assets with a corresponding liability at the date from which the leased
asser is avaifable for use by the group. The leases are typically for fixed periods in excess of onc year but
may have extension options.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a preseat valuc basis. Lease labilities
include the net present value of the following lease payments:

- hixed payments, less any lease incentives reccivable;

- varable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially rmeasured using the index or
rate as at the commencement date;

- amounts expected to be payable by the group under residual value guarantees;

- the exercise prce of a purchase option if the group is reasonably cermain to exercise that opton;
and

- payments of penaltics for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the group exercising that
option,

The group is exposed to potendal future increases in variable lease payments based on an index or rate,
which are not included in the lease bability untl they take effect. When adjustments to lease payments
based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability 1s reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use

asset,

Lease payments te be made under reasonably cerrain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.

The nghrof-use assets comprise the inital measurement of the cerresponding lease liability, lease
payments made at or before the commencement day and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the undetlying
asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the rght-of-use asset reflects
that the company expects to exercise a purchase option, the related dght-of-use asset is depreciated over
the uscful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use assets arc included in the Right of use assets’ line in the Statement of financial position.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement the lease
liability and the right-of use asset. The refated payments are recognised as an expense in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs and are included in profit or loss.

The lease lability is included within the Statement of financial position. The lease liability is subsequently
measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability {using the effecuve
mterest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Summary of accounting policics (continucd)

2.15. Leased assets {continued)

The company remeasures the lease liability {and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-
use asset) whenever:
- alease contract is modified, and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease,
- in which case the lease lability is remeasured by discounting the tevised lease payments using a
revised discount rate.
- the company did not make any such adjustments during the periods presented.

Contracts may contain both leasc and non-lease components. The company allocates the consideration in
the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand alone prices. However,
for leases of real estate for which the group is a lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease
components and mstead accounts for these a5 a single lease component.

‘The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If thar rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the group, the lessee's incremental borrowing rate is
used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain
an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms,
securty and conditions.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the
Income statement on a sum of digits method.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value assets
are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in the Income statement. Short-term leases are leases
with 2 lease term of 12 months or less.

Restrictions ot covenants imposed by leases

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions, These lease agreements do not impose any covenant other than the security interests in rhe
leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assers may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Lessor

Lease income from operating leases where the group is a lessor is recognised in incomne on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaning an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognised as expense over the lease term on the same basis
as lease income. The respective leased assets are included in the balanice sheet based on their nature.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Summary of accounting policies (continued)

2.16. Impairment testing

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
largely independent cash inflows {cash-generating units). As a result, some assets are tested individually
for impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level. Goodwill is allocated to those cash-
generating units that are expected ro benefit from synergics of the related business combination and
represent the lowest level within the Group at which management monitors goodwill.

Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment at Jeast annually. All
other individual assets or cash-pencrating units are tested for impairment whenever events ot changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's or cash-generating unit’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use.
To detecmine the value-in-use, management estimates expected future cash flows from each cash-
generating unir and determines a suitable interest rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. The data used for impairment testing procedures are directly linked to the Group's larest approved
budget, adjusted as necessary to exclude the effects of future recrganisations and asset enhancements.

Discount factors are determined individually for each cash generaling unit and reflect their respective risk
profiles as assessed by management.

Impairment losses for cash- genemtmg units reduce first the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
that cash-generating unit. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in the
cash-generating unit. With the exception of goodwill, all assets arc subsequently reassessed for indications
that an impairment loss previously recognised may no longer exist.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Summary of accounting policies {continued}

2.17. Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the finanrial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights 1o the cash flows from the financial asset
expire, or when the financial asset and all substanual risks and rewards are transferred.

A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires,

Financial assets and financial Labilides are measured initizlly at fair value plus transactions costs. Financial
assets and financial labilities are measured subsequenty as described below.

Financial assets

All recognised financial assets are subsequently mecasured in their entirety at either fair value or amortised
cost, depending on the classification of financial assets. All of the Group’s financial assets are
subsequently measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, wirh any fair value gains o losses
being recognised in the Income statement to the extent they are not part of a designated hedging
relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in the Income statement includes any dividend or interest

earned on the financial asset.

Under TFRS 9 only assets which consist of solely payments of principle and interest {(“SPPI”) can be
tecorded at amortised cost. All financial assets held by the Group are SPPI and can therefore be

subsequently measured at amordsed cost.

The Group’s financial assets include trade receivables and cash and cash equivalents.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the

ordinary course of business. If collection is expected in one year or less, they are classified as current
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are inidally recognised at fair value. The group holds the trade receivables with the
objective to collecr the contractual cashflows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost,
less any provision for impairment. Appropriate allowances for estimated mrecoverable amounts are
recognised in the Income statement. The group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring
expected credit [osses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all rade receivables. When a trade
receivable is considered uncollectable, it is writter off agamst the allowance account. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the
carrying amount of the allowance zccount are recognised in the Income staternent.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprse cash on hand and demand deposits, together with other short-term,

highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Financial liabilities
The Group's financial liabiliies include trade and other payables, borrowings and obligations under

finance leases.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Summary of accounting policies (continued)
2.17. Financial instruments {continued)

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pav for goods or services that have been acqui.red in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Accounts payable arc classified as current ltabihttes 1f payment 1s due within
one year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequenty measured at amortised
cost, using the etfective interest rate method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value net of any transaction costs associated with the issue of the
relevant fnancial hiability. Subsequent to inital measurement, borrowings are measured at amortised cost
with the borrowing costs being accounted for on an accruals basis in the income statement using the
effective interest rate method. At the balance sheet date accrued interest is recorded separarcly from the
associated borrowings within current liabilities.

2.18. Provisions

A provision 15 recognised in the balance sheet when the Group has a present legal or consuuctive
abligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable thar an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation, When recognising and measuring a provision, events occurring after the
reporting date, and before authorisation for issue, are considered to derermine whether sach events
provide addirional evidence of conditons that existed at the reporting date and should therefore be

adjusted for.

If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-
tax rare that reflects current marker assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the
risks specific 1o the hability.

2.19. Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost represents materials, direct labous
and overheads incurred in bringing inventories to their present condition and location. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less any applicable selling expenses.
Provision is made for obsolete, stow moving or defective items where appropriate.

Work in progress is valued on the basis of direct costs plus attributable overheads based on normal levels
of activity. Provision is made for any foreseeable losses where appropriate. No element of profit is
included in the valuation of work in progress.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Summary of accounting policies (continued)

2.20. Income taxes

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax not recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The tax payable in respect of the year is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from
net profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductble in other years and it further excludes items thar are ncver raxable or deducable. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates and laws that have been enacied or
substantially enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrylng amounts
of assets and labilides in the financial starements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
compuration of taxable profit and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and lLabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from initial recogniton of goodwill or from the initial recognition of other assets and
lizbilities {other than in a business combinarion) in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed ar each reporting date.

Deferred iax is calculated, without discounting, based on the laws enacted or substantially enacted by the
reporting date and ar the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled, or
the asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement except when it relates to
itemns charged or credited directly to other comprehenstve mncome or equity, in which case the deferred tax
is also dealt with in other comprehensive income or equity.

2.21. Equity, reserves and dividend payments

Share capital represents the hominal value of shares that have been issued. The revaluation reserve within
equity relates to pains on the revaluation of property, plant and equipment prior to the date of transition,
at which point the revalued amount became the deemed cost. The capital contribution reserve relates to
assets gifted to the group by the uldmate parent undertaking. Retained earnings include all current and
prior period retained profits.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Summary of accounting policies (continued)

2.22. Employee benefits

The Group has a numbet of pension schemes, both of a defined benefit and defined contribution nature,
Full details are provided in note 27.

Defined benefit schemes
The defined benefit schemes are funded, with the assets of the scheme held separately {rom those of the

group, in a separate trustee-administered fund.

The Hability recognised in the statement of financial position for defined betefit plans is the present value
of the defined benefit obligation [DBQ) at the reporting date less the fair value of plan assets.

The Group estimates the DBQO annually using the projected unit method with the assistance of
independent actuaries. L he estimate ot 1ts post-retrement benefit obligations is based on standard rates of
inflation and mortality. It also takes into account the Group's specific anticipation of future salary
increases. Discount factors are determined close to each year-end by reference to high quality corporate
bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to
matutity approximating to the terms of the related pension liability.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in the penod in which they occur through the statement of
comprehensive income.

Past service costs are recognised immediately in the Income statement, unless the changes to the pension
plan are conditional on the employees remaining in service for a specified period of time (the vesting
period). In this case, the past service costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

The interest cost on the net obligations and the interest income are shown wirthin either finance income or
finance costs, as appropriate.

For certain defined bencfit schemes, on termination of the service agreement, the employees and
associated defined benefit liability will revert back to the relevant local authonty. Where this is the case,
the net defined benefit obligaton or asset that the Group expects to fund ot recover over the remaining
period of the service agreement is recognised in the statement of financial positon.

Defined contribution schemes

Employees of certain Group companies are members of vatious local government pension schemes.
Under the terms of the relevant transfer agreements, the actuarial risks associated with the schemes
remain with the relevant Council. Furthermore, these subsidiary companies will only participate in the
local government scheme for a finite period up to the end of the contract. The contributions paid by
these companiés are set in relation to the current service period only and as such the group has accounted
for the contributions to these schemes as if they were 2 defined contribution scheme.

Contributions to other defined contribution schemes are charged to Income statement when they fall due
on an accruals basis.

Short-term employee benefits
Shott-term employee benefits, including holiday entitlement, are current liabilities included in "accruals and
deferred income’, measured at the undiscounted amount that the Group expects to pay as a result of the

unused enttiement,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Summary of accounting policies (continued)

2.23. Other operating income

Other operating income consists of government grants and other income atuaibutable 1o the vear that
cannot be classified under any of the other income categories.

Government grants received on capital expenditure are initially recognised within deferred income on the
company's Statement of finanaal positon and are subsequently recognised in the Income statement on a
systematic basis over the useful life of the related capiral expenditure.

Grants for revenue expenditurc arc presented as part of the Income statement in the periods in which the
expenditure is recognised.

2.24, Accounting judgements and estimates

To be able to prepare financial statements in accordance with IFRS, management must make estimates
and assumptons that affect the asset and liability itemns and revenue and expense amounts recorded in the
financial statements. These estmates are based on historical experience and various other assumptions
that management and the Board of directors believe are reasonable under the circumsrances. The results
of this form the basis for making judgements about the carrying value of assets and Labilities that are not
readily available from other sources.

The actual results are likely to differ from the judgements, estimates and assumptions made by
management, and will seldom equal the estimated results.

Information about the significant judgements, estimates and assumptions that have the most significant
effect on the recognition and measurement of assets, Habilities, income and expenses are discussed below.

Critical judgements

Revenue and profit on property consultancy contracts

In respect of certain property consultancy services, the stage of completion of any contract 1s assessed by
management by taking into consideration all information available at the reporting date. In this process
management makes significant judgements about milestones, actual work performed and the estimated
costs to complete the work. Further information on the Group's accounting policy for these contracts is

provided i1 note 2.7,

The Group uses the percentage-of-completion method to determine the approprare amount to recognise
inn a given period. The stage of completion is measured by reference to the contract costs incurred up to

the reporting date ag a percentage of total estimated costs for each contract.

Leases
In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic

incentive to exercise an extension opdon, ot not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or
petiods after terminaton options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to
be extended (or not terminated).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Summary of accounting policies (continued)
2.24. Accounting judgements and estimates (continued)
Critical judgements {continued)

Non-depreciation of care homes
Up to 31 March 2023, as disclosed in note 14, no depreciation has been charged on the Care Homes

transferred in from Norfolk County Council as the directors consider that the present carrying value will
not be significandy different to the residual value and therefore any depreciation charge would not be
material.

A change in accounung policy has occurred in the current vear with all Care Homes being revalued on 31
March 2023. This has been reflected in note 14. All Care Homes from 31 March 2023 onwards will be
carried at revaluation less accumulated depreciation.

Critical estimates

Impaiement of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the
accounting policy previously stated. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculadons require the vse of estimates. Further

derails of the estimates used are set out in note 12,

Defined benefit liability
The value of the defined benefit plan liabilities is determined by using various long term actuarial
assumpuons, including future rates of inflation, growth yields, returns on investrnents and mortality rates.

The value of the defined benefit scheme recorded on the balance sheet is currently subject to IFRIC 14,
which under certain circumstances requires an adjustment to turn an accounting surplus into a lizbility
equal to the present value of committed future payments of the scheme. Determining the IFRIC 14
adjustment requires the use of actuarial assumptions to project forward the funding position of the
scheme over the commuument pertod. As actual changes in inflation, growth, yields and investment returns
may differ from those assumed, this is a key source of estmation uncertainty within the financial
statements. Changes in these assumptions over time and differences to the actual outcome will be
reflected in the statement of comprehensive income.

Note 27 details the main assumptions in accounting for the Group’s defined benefit pension scheme
along with sensitivites of the liabilides to changes in these assumpdons,



Notes to the consolidated financial statements

2. Summary of accounting policies {continued)
2.24. Accounting judgements and estimates (continued)
Critical estimates (continued)

Leases
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily

determined, which is generally the case for leases in the company, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate
is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain
an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms,

security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the group, where possible, uses recent third-party finaacing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received and makes adjustments specific to the lease, for example term,
county, currency and security.

2.25. Adoption of hew and revised International Financial Reporting Standards

The Group has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for their annual
teporting period caommencing 1 April 2022:

*  Onerous Contracts — cost of fulfilling a contract — Amendments to IAS 37; and

¢ Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods and
are not expecred to significantly affect the current or future periods.

Management anticipates that all of the pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policy
for the first peniod beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement.

There are no standards that are not yet effective and that would be expected 1o have a material impact on
the endty in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

3. Revenue

The following significant categories of revenue were recognised in the year:

2023 2022
4000 L7000
Property consultancy and design services 53,962 62,887
Cleaning services 15,808 21,640
Catering services 23,205 18,468
Facilides maintenance & management services {including security and
building maintenance) 95,182 74,578
Transpott services : 15,139 13,621
Highways services 20,967 21,403
Environmental services, including sale of recyclables 88,180 88,883
Care Services 46,180 43,580
358,623 345,060

All revenue has arisen in the United Kingdom.

The revenue recognised in the current reporting period that relates to carried-forward contract liabilides is
£1,713k (2022 £1,920k). This fully relates to property consultancy and design services. Total contract
liabilites are detailed in Note 21.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

4. Operating loss

Group operating loss is srared after charging / (crediting):

2023 2022
£2000 £2000
Inventory recognised as an expense 24,316 28,905
Amortisation of intangible assets {note 13) 91 98
Grant amoertisation (146) (1406)
Drepreciation of owned property, plant and equupment {note 14) 4,292 4,606
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment held under lease (note 15) 6,475 6,809
(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (1,219) 46
Operating lease expense relating to short-term leases 572 479
Operating lease expense relating to leases of low value assets 90 91
Auditors’ rernuneration — audit of the company financial statements 16 15
- Auditors’ remuneration — other fees (see helow) 758 669
Non-recurring items within administrative expenses
- Impairment of property, plant and equipment 4,594 7,477
- Impairment of Goodwill - 4,397
Profit on disposal of subsidiary company (103) -

The Group recognised an impairment loss of 4,594k (2022: £11,875k) in the year which has been
classified as non-recurring. See note 14 for more detail.

5. Auditors' remuneration

The Group paid the following amounts to its auditors:

2023 2022

£000 L7000

Auditors’ remuneration — audit of the company financial statements 16 15
Auditors’ remuneration — other fees:

- Statutory audit of subsidiaries 758 669

774 684




48

Merse Group Limiteo
Finencial statements for the yvear enced 37 March 2024
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6. Particulars of employees

The average monthly number of staff emploved by the group during the financial year amounted to:

2023 2022
Number Number
Tiuperty conzultancy and design 412 527
Business support 655 681
Catering services 852 902
Cleaning services 1,767 1,944
Facililes management 1,152 1,245
Transport 369 418
Waste manapgement operations and environmental services 1,319 1,349
Care Services 1,612 1,657
8,138 123
The agpregate payroll costs of the above were:
2023 2022
A7000 L7000
Wages and salaries 156,911 156,068
Social security costs 13,794 12,653
Other pension costs:
- Defined benefit schemes (note 27) 4,180 4,423
- Defined contribution schemes (note 27) 7,919 7,519
182,804 180,663

Pension costs ate amounts charged to operating profit and do not include amounts charged to finance
costs (note 10) and amounts recognised within other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

7. Directors

Remuneration in respect of directors was as follows:

2023 2022
£000 £2000
Fmolnments receivable in respect of services to subsidiary undertakings 379 444

The above disclosure excludes three directors (2022: seven) who received no remuneration for the
services provided to the group. The aggregate emoluments of the highest paid director were £236k (2022:
£251k). In respect of the defined benefit pension scheme, at the year end the highest paid director had an
annual accrued pension entitlement of £32k (2022: £19k).

The above disclosure includes £nil (2022: £13k) of payments made as compensation for loss of office.

The number of directors who accrued benefits under group pension scheme during the year was as

follows:

2023 2022
Number Number
1 1

Defined benefit schemes
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

8. Investments accounted for using the equity method

Investment
in joint
ventures
£1000
Cost and net book value
At 1 April 2021 307
Share of result for the financial vear (90)
Adjustment in tespect of prior year 19
Acquisition of interest in joint venrurc .
At 31 March 2022 236
Share of result for the financial year {114)
Adjustment io respect of priot year 134
Acquisition of interest in joint venture -
At 31 March 2023 256
The above investments consist of:
Share of gross assets 1,776
Share of gross liabilities (1,520
256
The mvestments it joint ventutes are detailed in Note 16.
9. Finance income
2023 2022
L7000 L7000
Bank interest receivable 1 -
Interest receivable on deposits with ultimate parent undertaking 185 -
Other interest receivable 70 -
256 -
10. Finance costs
2023 2022
£2000 £7000
Interest payable on bank botrowings (note 24) 268 400
Interest payable on loans from ultimate parent undertaking (note 24) 691 318
Net finance chatge in respect of defined benefit pension schemes (note 27) 744 978
Interest payable in respect of leases (note 23) 636 768
- 8

Other interest

2,339 2,472
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

11. Taxation

(&) Analysis of {credit)/charge in the year

2023 2022

£2000 £7000
Current tax:
Corporation tax based on the loss for the year (1,596) 2,170
Adjustment in respect of prior period (1,866) 294
Total current rax (3,462) 2,464
Defetred tax: (note 18}
Retirernent benefit obligaton (note 27) - -
Origination and reversal of temporary differences {193} (847)
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of ptior year 953 24
Change in tax rates - (622)
Total deferred tax 760 (1,445)
Total tax (credit)/charge for the year (note 11 (b)) (2,702) 1,019

{b) Factors affecting the tax {credit)/charge

The taxation assessed for the vear is lower (2022; lower} than the standard rate of corporation tax in the
UK of 19% (2022: 19%). The {credit)/charge is affected by a number of factors in addition to the

standard UK rate. The differences are explained as follows:

2023 2022
£'000 L1000

Loss before taxation (8,517) (12,698)
Loss before taxation multiplied by standard rate of tax 19% (2022: 19%) (1,618) (2,412)
Tax effects of:

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 383 2488

Capital allowances in excess of depreciation (385) -
Income not chargeable for tax putrposes (323) 61

Tmpact of changes in statutory tax rates (45} (93)
Losses carried back (58) -
Accumulation of tax losses not recogrised 228 658

Adjustments to tax (credit)/charge in respect of prior year (884) 317

Total tax (credit)/charge for the year (note 11 (a}) (2,702) 1,019
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

11. Taxation (continued)

{¢} Factars affecting future tax charges

The Government made a number of budget announcements on 3 March 2021. These include confirming
that the rate of corporation tax will increase to 23% from 1 Aprl 2023. This new law was substantively
enacted onn 24 May 2021, Deferred 1axes at the balance sheet date have been measured using these enacted
tax rates and reflected in these financial statements.

12. Goodwill

£'000
Cost
At 1 April 2022 and at 31 March 2023 4,476
Impairment

4,476

At 1 April 2022 and at 31 March 2023

Net book value

At 1 April 2022
At 31 March 2023

The goodwill balance 1s summarised by cash generating unit as follows:
31 March 31 March

2023 2022
£1000 £000

Hamson Barron Smith Limited
Eventguard Limited
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

12. Goodwill {(continued)

The carrymg values of the Group’s goodwill balances are reassessed at lease annually or whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. If analysis indicates
that the carrying value is too high, then this is reduced to its recoverable amount which is the higher of
fair value less costs to sell and its value in ase. Value in use s calculated using pre-tax cash fow
projections based on financial budgets and business plans covering a twelve-month pericd. These have
beeu extrapolated for the units renmining useful hves using the growth rates stated below.

The key assumptions for the vaiue in use, other than revenue cashflow forecast calculations, are those
regarding the operaring margin, discount rates and growth rates and these are as set our below.

Operating margin Growth rates Discount rates
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Yo %o Yo Yo Yo %
Hamson Barron Smith Limited 24 24 - - 5-10 5-10
Eventguard Limited - - - - 5 5

Operating margins are estimated by management based on historical trends and market conditions.
Dhscount rates are estimated by management using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the cash generating units. The growth rate is based on
the average growth rate of the UK economy since the Second World War. Management considers this to
be a reasonable basis for the estimale of the future growth rate in each of the relevant markets.

In the prior year, the assessment of the ongoing cash flows of both Hamson Barron Smith and
FEventpuard resulted in the full impairment of the goodwill values previously carried on the balance sheet.
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13. Other intangible assets

Othet
Computer  intangible
software assets Total
£,'000 £'000 £'000
Coot or Valuation
At 1 April 2021 1,922 1,187 3,100
Additions 44 - 44
Transfers (137) 4 (141
At 31 March 2022 1,829 1,183 3,012
Addidons 149 - 149
Disposals (1806) - {186)
At 31 March 2023 1,792 1,183 2,975
Accumulated Amortisation
At 1 Apnl 2021 1,640 1,178 2,824
Charge for the year 94 4 98
Transfers {135} - (135)
At 31 March 2022 1,605 1,182 2,787
Charge for the year 920 1 9n
Disposals {180} - 180y
At 31 March 2023 1,515 1,183 2,698
Net book value at 31 March 2023 27 - 277
Net book value at 31 March 2022 224 1 225

Computer software is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful economic life of five years.
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14. Property, plant and equipment

Freehold
property & Plant, Assets in the
leasehold Care fixtures & Motor Computer course of
improvements Homes fittings vehicles equipment construction Total
£'060 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 _£'000 L1000

Cost
At l April 2021 62,270 - 47,741 6,601 420 64 117,096
Additions 788 - 2,115 182 64 9 3,158
Disposals 47 - {2,409 (3,344) (264) - (5,970
Transfers 36 - 179 1,346 - (36) 1,525
At 31 March 2022 63,141 - 47,626 4,785 220 37 115,809
Addidons 1L,171 - 2,867 851 20 (1) 4,908
Disposals (585) - {1,584) {4.452) (76} - (6,697)
Reclassification {20,433) 26,433 - - - - -
Revaluation (220 6,721 - - - - 6,501
Transfers ©7) . 75 2,589 (24) (23) 2,520
At 31 March 2023 36,977 33,154 48,984 3,773 140 13 123,041
Accumulated
depreciation
At 1 April 2021 15,501 ~ 23,497 4,868 168 - 44034
Charge for the year 1,117 - 2,904 472 113 - 4,606
On disposals 63 ~ (2,085) {2,316} (256) - (4,594
impairment losses 7,477 - - - - - 7477
Transfers - - 161 938 - - 1,099
At 31 March 2022 24,158 - 24,477 3,962 25 - 52,622
Charge for the year 895 - 2,903 408 86 - 4,292
On disposals (585) - {1,358) (4,065) (67) “ (6,075)
Impairment losses - - 4,594 - - - 4,594
Reclassification (2.807) 2,807 - - - - -
Revaluation - (2,807 - - - - (2,807)
Transfers 144 - 52) 2,398 - - 2,490
At 31 March 2023 21,805 - 30,564 2,703 44 - 55,116
Net book amount
at 31 March 2023 15,172 33,154 18,420 1,070 9% 13 67,925

Net book amount
at 31 March 2022 38,983 - 23,149 823 195 37 63,187
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14. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An impairment loss of £4,594k (2022: [7,477k) has been recognised in the consolidated income statement
in the current year. This relates to the photovoltaic assets held within Norse Enerpy Limited. The
directurs have assessed the value of these assets to the Group at 31 March 2023 based on the present
value of future cash flows generated by these assets. This has resulted in an impairment loss of £4,594k
and a subsequent net book value amount of £5210k. In the prior year, the impairment loss related to
property held within Norse Development Company Limited.

As part of a review to standardise the treatment of properties across the Group, Care Iomes are now
considered a separate class of assets and the reclassification in the table above reflects this as they were
previously disclosed in Freehold property & leasehold improvements.

There has been a change of accoundng policy on 31 March 2023 to camry these at revaluation less
accuinulated depteciation. Revaluations are carried out every 3-5 years as the fair value of Care Homes is
not expected to experience significant or volatile changes and therefore this is deemed sufficient to ensure
that carrying values do not differ significantly from the fair value.

When the Care Homes are revalued, the carrying amount of the assets is adjusted to the revalued amount.
At the date of the revaluation the accumulated depreciation is eliminated agatnst the gross carrying

amount of the asser.

A revaluation of £9,077k (2022; fnil) has beett recognised in the consolidated reserves in the current year
relating to the Care Homes held in Norse Care Limited.

Freehold land and buldings at Attleborough has been re-classified as an asset held for sale. The sale was
completed on 21 July 2023. The asset was held at valuation and has been revalued by 220k before

transferring to assets held for sale at the recoverable amount of £150k.

The net bock value of freehold and leasehold property comprises the following:

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Freehold property 14,387 25,879
Care Homes subject to revaluation and depreciation (note 2.24) 33,154 -
Non-depreciated care homes (note 2.24) - 16,451
Leaschold improvements 785 2,653
48,526 38,983

Hreehold and leasehold property includes land of £8,320k (2022: £8,699k) which is not depreciated.

With regard to assets previously carvled ar a valuation, the valuations are deemed to be the exisung cost at
the point of transition.
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15. Right-of-use-assets

Plant,
Leasehold fixtures & Motor  Computer
property fittings vehicles Software Total
£'000 £'000 £1000 £7000 £'000
Cost
At 1 April 2021 7,172 1,900 29,473 2,253 40,798
Additons 208 89 3,183 628 4,108
Dispasal {483} (28) {1,482) - (1,993)
Transfers - (17%) {1,346} - (1,325)
At 31 March 2022 6,897 1,782 29,828 2,881 41,388
Additions 571 123 1,860 398 2,952
Disposals (2,530) 116) ©951) (734) (4,331)
Transfers - {6) (2,585} - (2,591)
At 31 March 2023 4,938 1,783 28,152 2,545 37418
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2021 1,835 1,345 12,825 924 16,929
Charge for the year 1,054 257 4.0624 874 6,809
On disposals (483) (24 (923) - (1,430}
Transfers - (161) (938} - {1,099}
At 31 March 2022 2,406 1,417 15,588 1,798 21,209
Charge for the year 798 141 4,810 720 6475
On disposals (986) {116} (628) (317 (2,247)
Transfers - (6} {2,395) - (2,401)
At 31 March 2023 2,218 1,436 17,381 2,001 23,036
Net book amount at 31 March 2023 2,720 347 10,771 544 14,382
The following amounts in respect of leases, where the group is lessee, have been trecognised in the Income
stafement:
2023 2022
£000 £000
Interest expense on lease Liabilities 636 768
Espenses relating to short-term leases 572 479
90 91

Expenses relating to low value leases

The total cash outflow for leases during the year-ended 31 March 2023 was £6,267k (2022: £7,496k).
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16. Investments in joint ventures

NPS Property Consultants Limited owns 50% of the issued share capital of Beattie Passive Norse Limited
{"BPN?), a company incorporated in the United Kingdom. The principal activity of the joint venture is the
construction of energy effident buildings.

Norse Group Holdings Limited owns 50% of the issued share capital of Broadland Growth Limited
(BGL’), a company incorporated in United Kingdom. The principal activity of the company is property
construction and development.

Norse Group Holdings Limited owns 50% of the issued share capital of Mid Suffolk Growth Limited
{MS5G?), a company incorporated tn the United Kingdom. The principal activity of the company is
property development.

Norse Group Holdings Limited owns 30% of the issued share capital of Babergh Growth Limited
{{BAB’), 2 company incorporated in the United Kingdom. The principal activity of the company is
property development.

In October 2021, Norse Group Holdings Limited acquired 50% of the issued share capital of Caldecortt

Developments Limited {‘Caldecott’), a company incorporated in the United Kingdom. The principal
acuvity of the company is property development.

The nature of the joint venture agreements with the joint venture means the group does not have overall
control of the joint venture entities and hence these are accounted for using the equity method.
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Morse Greup Limited
Financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

17. Non-controlling interests
The group includes three subsidiaties with material non-conerolling interests (NCI'). ‘These are as follows:

Total comprehensive

income /(expense)
allocated to NCI Accumulated NCI
2023 2022 2023 2022
£'000 £000 £'000 £1000
Evolve Norse Limited 701 317 355 (346)
NPS South West Limited 1,406 739 1,425 19
GYDB Services Limited (12) {121 287 399

At 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022, the proportion of ownership interests and voting rights held by the
non-controlling interests was as follows:

2023 2022

% %

Evolve Norse Limited 20 20
NPS South West Limited 20 20
GYB Services Limited 40 40

No dividends were paid to these non-controlling interests in cither the current or preceding yeat.

The principal place of business, and country of incorporation, for all three subsidiaries is the Unired
Kingdom.
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Financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

17. Non-controlling interests (continued)

Summarsed financial information for Evolve Norse Limited, NPS South West Limited and GYDB Services
Limited, before intragroup eliminations, is pravided below:
Evolve Norse Limited  INPS South West  GYB Services Limited

Limited
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

£1000 L£000 £000  [000 £'000 £000

Non-current assets 500 647 1,808 1,075 85 44

Current assets 763 1,265 2,232 3,830 833 1,195

Total assets 1,263 1,912 4,040 4,905 918 1,239

Non current labilides (1,932) (869)  (6,085)  (3,044) - 39

Curtent liabilities (2,394)  (2.775) (163) (1,766, (258) (281)
Total liabilities (#,326)  (3,644)  (6,248)  (4,810) (258) (242)
Attributable to owners of

parent (2,450) (1,386) (1,766) 76 396 598

Attributable to NCJ (613) {340) (442} 19 264 399

Total Equity (3,063)  (1,732)  (2,208) 95 660 997
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Financial stztements for the year endead 31 Meech 20223

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

17. Non-controlling interests (continued)

Evolve Notse Limited NPS South West

GYB Services Limited

Limited
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
£'000 £'000 L'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Revenue 3,614 4,904 2,426 5,637 6,610 6,312
Loss)/profit for year
attributable to owners of
parent (291) (517) 50 159 (202) (180)
{Loss)/profit) for year
artributable to NCI 3 (129 18 40 (135) {121;
(Loss)/profit for the year {364) {646) 68 199 (337 301}
Other comprehensive
{expense}/income attributable
to owners of parent (774) 1,785 (1,898) 2,798 - .
Other comprehensive
{expense)/income attributable
to NCI (194) 446 (474) 700 - -
Other comprehensive
(expense)/income (968} 2,231 (2,372) 3,498 - -
Total comprehensive
{expense)/income attributable
to owners of parent (1,065) 1,268 {1,848) 2,958 (202) (180)
Total comprehensive
{expense)/income attributable
to NCI (267) 317 (456) 739 {135) {121)
Total comprehensive
(expense)/income (1,332) 1,585 (2,304) 3,697 (337) (301)
Net cash (used in) / from
operating actvitles 34) (155) 970 479 906 231
906 231

Net cash (outflow) / inflow 34 (155) 970 479
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

18. Deferred tax asset

The movement in the deferred tax asset during the year was:

£'000 £000
At l April 2022 and 1 Aprl 2021 8,997 10,398
Recognised in income statement:
Otigination and reversal of temporary differences 193 847
Adjusument in respect of por years (953) (24)
Change in tax rates recognised in income statement - 622
Recognised in other comprehensive income:
Deferred tax on actuarial gan for the year (3,754) (5,676}
Change in tax rates tecognised in other comprehensive income - 2,830
At 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 4,483 8,997

The group's asset for deferred taxation consists of the 1ax effect of temporary differences in respect oft

2023 2022

_ £'000 £1000

Retirement benefit obligation 3,505 6,979
Difference between depreciation and capiral allowances (526) 619
Other temporary differences 1,504 1,399
4,483 8,997

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offser when there is a legally enforceable right to offset cutrent tax
assets against current tax labilities and when the deferred taxes relate 1o the same fiscal authority. In
addition to the deferred tax asset above, the group has an unrecognised deferred tax asset of £2,390k
(2022: £2,472k) in rclation to tax losses carried forward in subsidiary undertakings. Deferred tax assets are
recognised only if 1t is probable that Future taxable amounts will be availabie to utlise those temporary
differences and losses, this is not deemed to be the cuse in the relevant subsidiary undertakings.



Notes to the consolidated financial statements

19. Inventories

2023 2022

£'000 £1000

Consumables 2,413 2,331
Work in progress 106 230
2,519 2,561

Consumables include catering supplies including food and non-food irems, cleaning supplies, prounds
supplies, fuel, motor parts and oil for fleer servicing, waste supplies such as bags and bins, security and fire
systemns, stairlifts, toilets, other care equipment and their associated parts.

The amount of inventories recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales during the year was
£24,310k (2022: £28.905k). No amounts have been charged to the income statement in the current or
previous year in relation to stock provisions and write offs. There is no significant difference between the
replacement cost of consumables and work in progress and their carrylng amounts.

20. Trade and other receivables

2023 2022,
£'000 £1000
Current assets
Trade receivables 31,039 32,373
Amounts owed by parent undertaking 11,964 10,728
Amounts owed by joint ventures 1,956 1,936
Amounts recoverable on contracts 1,899 1,922
Orther debtors 929 1,188
Prepayments and accrued income 15,658 11,972
Tax recoverable 2,228 -
65,673 60,139
Non-current assets
Other debtors 11,657 11,731
11,657 11,781

Trade and other receivables are initially stated at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost as reduced by appropriate allowance or estimated irrecoverable amounts. The directors consider that

the carrying values of current trade and other recetvables approximate to their fair values.

Trade and other receivables have been reviewed for indicators of impairment. Certain trade recetvables
were found to be potentially impaired and a provision of £3,250k (2022: [3,821k) has been recorded
accordingly. The average credit period taken by customers is 32 days (2022: 38 days).

Amounts owed by parent and joint ventures are uasecurcd, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment

and are repayable on demand.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

20. Trade and other receivables {continued)

As of 31 March 2023, trade receivables of £16,672k (2022: £28.033k} were past due but not impaired.
These relate to a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of defanit. The
ageing analysis of these trade recetvables is a5 follows:

2023 2022

£'000 L1000

Not more than three months 8,709 9,767
More than three months but not more than six months 564 2,918
Mote than six months 7,399 15,348
16,672 28,033

Current receivables 2023 2022
£'000 L1000

Finance leases — gross receivables 91 91
91 91

Gross receivables from finance leases 2023 2022
£,'000 £'000

No later than 1 year 91 91
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 365 365
Later than 5 years 10,318 10,410
Net investment in finance leases 10,774 10,866
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21, Trade and other payables

2023 2022
£'000 £/000
Cutrent liabilities
Trade creditors 9,189 8,290
Amounts owed to parent undertaking 2,019 2,923
Ameounts owed to joint ventures - 10
Other tazation and social secutity 9,014 11,737
Corporation tax - 2,165
Qther creditors 4,045 3,755
Accruals and deferred income 37,619 36,215
61,886 65,095
Non-curtent Habilities
Defetred income 3,916 4,062
Other creditors 10,683 10,774
14,599 14,836

Trade and other payables are initially stated at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost, The directors consider that the carrying values of cutrent trade and other payables approximate their
fair values. The average credit period taken by the Group on trade payables was 11 days (2022: 11 days).

Included within other creditors is £1,453k (20220 £1407k) in respect of outstanding pension
contributions.

Included within accruals and deferred income is £1,025k (2022: £1,860k) in respect to contract hab:lities.

The deferred income balance within non-current liabilities relates to deferred grant income. This relates
to government grants received towards two (2022: two) capital projects. Deferred grant income of £146k
(2022: £140k) was released to the income statement during the year.

Amounts owed to parent undertaking are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and
are repayable on demand.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

22. Financial instruments analysis

Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts presented in the statement of financial position relate to the following categories of
assets and Habilitics:

Financial assets 2023 2022
L1000 L1000

Loans and receivables (due within one year)
- Trade and other receivables 48,108 46,246
- Cash and cash equivalents 6,521 17,265
54,629 63,511

The group’s bankers, Barclays Bank Plc, has a long-term credit ratng with Moody’s of Al (Stable).

Financial assets are valued at amortised cost. See note 2.17 for a description of the accounting policies for
each category of financial instruments. The fair values are presented in the related notes. A description of
the Group's risk management objectives and policies for financial instruments is given in note 20.

Financial liabilities 2023 2022
£'000 _£'600

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:
Non-current:

- Borrowings 9,476 10,706
- Trade and other payables 14,599 14,836
- Obligations under leases 8,842 13,476
Current

- Borrowings 16,480 18,665
- Trade and other payables 46,394 46,378
- Obligations under leases 4,854 6,151

100,645 110,212

See note 2.17 for a descrption of the accounting policies for each category of financial instruments. The
fair values are presented in the relared notes. A description of the Group's tisk management objectives
and policies for finandial instruments is given in note 26.



Morse Group bLimited
Firanacial statemants for the yoor ended 31 Murch 2623

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

22. Financial instruments analysis {continued)

Maturity of the Group’s financial liabilities 2023 2022
L0000 L1000
Due within one year:
Trade creditors 9,189 8,290
Amounts owed to parent undettaking 2,020 2,924
Other creditors 4,045 3,756
Accruals 31,150 29,235
Obligations ander leases 5,216 6,745
Borrowings 18,734 19,314
Total due within one year 70,354 70,264
Due within one to two yeats:
Borrowings 1,976 1,692
QOther creditors - -
Obliganons under leases 3,596 4,684
Due within two to five vears
Borrowings 1,930 3,263
Other creditors - -
Obligations under leases 4,651 7,667
In more than five years
Borrowings 9,100 9,744
Other cteditors - -
Obligations under leases 1,257 2,212
92,864 99,526

The above contractual marurities reflect the gross cash flows which may differ to the carrying values of
the labilities at the reporting date.
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23. Lease liabilities

Maturity analysis - minimum lease payments 2023 2022
£'000 L1000
No later than 1 vear 5,215 6,745
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 8,246 12,353
Later than 3 years 1,257 2,204
Minimum lease payments 14,718 21,302
Less: future finance charges (1,022) (1,675)
Present value of lease obligations 13,696 19,627
Maturity analysis - present value of minimum lease payments
2023 2022
L'000 £1000
No later than | year 4,854 6,151
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 7,618 11,042
Later than 5 years 1,224 2,434
13,696 19,627

Lease terms ate negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. These lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the
leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices. However, for
leases of real esrate for which the group is a lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease
components and instead accounts for these as a single lease component.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

24. Borrowings

Bank loans and overdrafts 2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Due within one year 5,250 7,958

Due within one to two yeats -
Due within two to five years - -
In more than five years

5,250 7,958

The group has one cutstanding bank loan as follows:

¢ Norse Energy Limited, £10m bank loan, commenced March 2018, with £5.25m outstanding at 31
Matrch 2023. The loan was repayable in 19 equal instalments of £250,000, payable quarterly, with
a lump sum repayment instalment sufficient to repay the loan in full, due on the final repayment
date. Interest on the loan was charged at a tloating rate, but never less than 1.55%. The bank
loan was secuted by way of a debenture over the assets of Norse Energy [imited. The loan was
repaid in full on 6 April 2023,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

24. Borrowings (continued)

Loans from parent undertaking 2023 2022

£1000 £1000
Due within one year 11,230 10,707
Due within one to two years 1,642 1,230
Due within two to five years 1,079 2347
In more than five years 6,755 7,129

20,706 21,413

‘The group has the following loans from parent undertaking:

By virtue of an agteement dated 28 March 2001, Norfolk Environmental Waste Services Limited
received a loan of £2.44m from the ultimate parent undertaking, Norfolk County Council. The
loan is repayable in 46 equal half yearly instalments bearing fixed rate interest at 4.875%, The final
payment will be on 31 Martch 2024, As at 31 March 2023 the value outstanding was £0.1m.

In January 2016, Norse Energy Limited received a £10m loan from Norfolk County Council. On
21 December 2022 the loan was extended for 12 months with fixed rate interest of 4.6% payable.
There are no repayment instalments with the full loan due for repayment on 21 December 2023.
The loan is secuted by way of a guarantee provided by Norse Group Limitec.

By virtue of an agreement dated 5 July 2016, Norse Development Company Limited received a
loan of £6.25m from the uldmate parent undertaking, Notfolk County Council. The loan is
repayable in 29 equal annual instalments starting from July 2018 with the final instalment being
due in July 2046. Interest on the loan is charged at a fixed rate of 4%a. The loan is secured by way
of a guarantee provided by Norse Group Limited. At 31 March 2023 the value outstanding was

£6.0m.

By wvirtue of an agreement dated February 2018, the Norse Consulang Group received a new
£3.5m loan from the ultimate parent undertaking, Norfolk County Council. The loan is repayable
in bi-annual instalments commencing August 2018 with the final instalment being due in
February 2025. Interest on the loan is charged at a fixed rate of 2.5% per annum. The loan is
secured by way of a guatantee provided by Norse Group Limited. At 31 March 2023 the value
outstanding was £2.1m.

By virtue of an agrcement dated March 2019, Norse Care Limited received a loan of £3m from
the ultimate parent undertaking, Norfolk County Council. The loan is repayable in 15 equal
annual instalments commencing March 2021 with the final instalment due in March 2035, Interest
on the lean 1s charged at a fixed rate of 3.5% per annum. The loan is secured by way of a
guarantee provided by Norse Group Limited. At 31 March 2023 the value outstanding was

£2.5m.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

25. Provisions

Dilapidation

provision Total

£'000 £'000

At 1 April 2021 400 400
Additional provisions 627 627
Keleased to Income statement {199) (199}
At 31 March 2022 828 828
Additional provisions 1,671 1,671
Released to Income staterment {406) (466)
At 31 March 2023 2,033 2,033

Dilapidation provision

The dilapidation provisions relate to properties occupied by NPS South West Limited, Evolve Notse
Limited, NPS Leeds Limited and NPS Property Consultants Limited. The provision represents an
estimate of costs expected to be incurred at the end of the respective leases to make good changes that
have been made to the properties during the lease period. It is expected that £1,916k (2022: £352k) of this
balance will be released within one year and the remaining £117k (2022: £81k) within two to five years.

26. Financial instrument risks

Risk management objectives and policies
The Group is exposed to vatious risks in relation to financial instruments. The Group's financial assets

and liabilities by category ate summansed in note 22.

Capital risk management
The Group manages its capital to ensure its ability to continue as a gomng concern and to maintain an

optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The capital structure of the Group comprises equity attributable to equity holders of Norse Group
Limited consisting of issued ordinary share capital, reserves and rerained earnings (see consolidated
statement of changes in equity) and cash and cash equivalents. The Group’s overall capital risk
management strategy remains unchanged from previous years.

The Group’s access to capital remains strong, with either additonal debt or equity from its sole
shareholder Norfolk County Council available to support additional invesament where appropriate, as well
as additional debt funding from the external market, with the reduction in debt levels during 2021
providing headroom for additional debt if required.

Orther risks are outlined in the Strategic Report.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

27. Pensions and employee benefit obligations

The liabilities recognised for pensions and other employee remuneration in the balance sheet consist of
the following amounts:

2023 2022
£'000 £000
Non-current:
- Defined benefit plans 14,020 27,914
Current:
- Other pension obligations (within other creditors) 1,453 1,407
- Other short-term employee obligations (within aceruals) 1,066 1,331
2,519 2,738

Other pension obligations represent pension conmibutions thar had not been paid at the balanee sheet
date. Other short-term employee obligations arisc mainly from accrued holiday entitlement at the

reporting date.

Defined benefit pension schemes
The gtoup is a patticipating employer in a number of multi-employer Local Government Pension

Schemes, the main one being the Norfolk Pension Fund.

The calculations for the disclosures are based on a full actuarnial valuanon of the schemes as at 31 March
2022 updated to year end 31 March 2023 by a qualified independent actuary. For certain defined benefit
schemes, on termination of the service agreement, the employees and associated defined benefit liability
will revert back to the relevant local authority. The net defined benefit obligation has therefore been
adjusted to reflect the future commitment of the Group.

The main assumptions used by the actuary to calculate schemne liabilities of the Group were:

2023 2022 2021 2020

% e % o
Rate of increase in salaries 3.7 3.8 3.4 2.6
Rate of increase in pensions in payment 3.0 3.1 2.7 1.9
Discount rate 4.8 2.7 2.0 2.3
Inflation assumption 3.2 3.6 2.7 1.9




Florse GAr.g i iten

Finnncizl statementy Yor the yorr ended 15 Mok FEE3
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27. Pensions and employee benefit obligations (continued)

The post retirement mortality assumptions used to value the benefit obligation at the year end are based
on the Fund's ViraCurves, which is a statistical model of the diverse range of survival patterns that are
observed in the recent past, with improvements 12 line with the CMI 2020 model, with 2 0% weighting of
2020 data, an allowance for smoothing of recent mortality expetience, initial adjustment of 0.5% and a
long-teem rate of improvement of 1.3% per annum. Based on these the average future life expectancies at
age 05 are as follows:

2023 2023 2022 2022

Males Females Males Females
Current pensioners (years) 21.6 23.8 21.1 23.7
Future pensioners (yeats) 22.5 25.9 22.3 25.5

These are different for each scheme based on the member profile. For consolidation purposes we have
taken an average across the schemes.

These assumptons were developed by management under consideration of expert advice provided by
independent actuarial appraisers. During the year the assumptions used were reviewed in detail and
refined, in relation to three specific areas of inflation, mortality rates and discount factors, to cnsure these
were appropriate to the undertlying liabilities. These assumptions have led to the amounts determined as
the Group's defined benefit obligations for the reporting pertiods under review and should be regarded as
management's best estimate. However, the actual outcome may vary. Changes in market condidons that
result in changes in the net discount rate {essendally the difference between the discount rate and the
assumed rates of increase in salaries, deferred pension revaluation or pensions in paveent) can have a
sigmificant impact on the value of the liabilides reported. "There is also uncertainty around life expectancy
of the UK populadon. The value of current and future pension benefits will depend on how leng they are
assumed to be in payment.

An analysis of the defined benefit scheme assets at the balance sheet date is detailed below:

2023 2022
Quoted Unquoted Total Quoted  Unquoted Total

£'000 4’000 £'000 % L1000 L1000 £1000 o
Equity securities - - - - - - - -
Debt securities 1,756 - 1,756 0.9 2,110 - 2,110 1.0
Private equity - 19,520 19,520 9.6 - 16,858 16,358 8.1
Investment funds and
unit trusts 136,573 22,951 159,524 78.0 148241 16,692 164,933 79.0
Detivatves (620) - (620) 0.3) 46 - 46 -
Property - 20,718 20,718 10.1 - 22,022 22022 10.5
Cash 3,411 - 3,411 1.7 2,958 - 2,958 1.4
Total fair value of
assets 141,120 63,189 204,309 100.0 153,355 55,572 208,927 100.0
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

27.Pensions and employee benefit obligations (continued)

The fair value of the scheme asscts and the expected rate of return, the present value of the scheme
liabilities and the resulting deficit are:

2023 2022

£000 £1000

Total fair value of assets 204,309 208,927
Present value of scheme liabilities (179,497) (236,756)
Adjustment to reflect the Group’s future commitment (6,789) (B3)
Surplus/(defictr) in the scheme before consideration of asset ceiling 18,023 (27.914)
Amounts not recognised e to effect of asset ceiling (18,023) -
Additional Kability recognised due to minimum funding requirements (14,020) -
Deficit in the scheme (14,020) (27,914)

The actual return on scheme assets in the year was a loss of £2,644k (2022: gain of £16,090k).

The adjustment to reflect the group’s future commitment relates to the GYB Services Limited pension
obligation. The contract with Great Yarmouth Borough Council ended on 31 March 2023 and, based on
the contract, the Group has no remaining obligation in respect of the scheme.

From the calculanons carmed out by a qualified independent actuary, the Group does not have an
unconditional right to derive economic benefit from any surplus. Therefore, the present value of the
economic benefits of the IAS 19 surplus in the pension scheme of £18,023,000 available on a reduction of
future contributions 1s /Nil for the schemes due to terminate. As a result, the Group has not recognised
this IAS 19 suzplus on the Statemen: of financial posigon.

The 2022 triennjal funding valuation usc certified contributons to address 2 funding deficit over a
specifted recovery time horizon. In accordance with the tequitements of IFRIC 14, the Group has
therefore recognised the contributions as a Hability of £INil.

Within the caleulation an assumption has been made in that there is no refund being anticipated from the
penston scheme and thete is no value from reduced furure service contrtbutions.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

27. Pensions and employee benefit obligations {continued)

An analysis of the movement in the defiat during the year is shown below:

4 000 L1000
Atl Apnl 2022 and 1 April 2021 (27,914) {48,431}
Total operating charge (3,955) (4,423)
Total finance charge (744) (978)
Actuarial gains from changes in financial assumptions 47,060 22,705
Contributions by the Group 3,572 3,552
Estimated unfunded benefits paid 4 4
Effect of business combinations and disposals - (343)
Present value of scheme assers/ (liabilities) 18,023 (27,914
Amounts not recognised due 1o effect of asset ceiling (18,023) -
Additional liability recognised due to mnimum funding requirements {14,020) -
At 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 (14,020) {27,914)
An analysis of the defined benefit cost follows:
Analysis of the amount charged to opetaring loss:

2023 2022

£1000 £1000
Current service cost (3,845) (4,412
Past service cost (110) (11

Total operating charge (3,955) (4,423)




Notes to the consolidated financial statements

27. Pensions and employee benefit obligations (continued)

Analysis of the amount charged to finance costs:

2023 2022
£1000 £1000
Interest income 4,704 3,359
Interest on pension scheme liabilities (5,448) (4,337}
Total finance charge (744) (978)
Analysis of the amount recognised in other comprehensive income:
2023 2022
£'000 £1000
Return on scheme assets {6,711) 12,731
Expenence adjustments arising on schenmte liabilities (19,542) (650)
Change in demographic assumptions (2,432) 8,547
Change in financial assumptions 75,745 2,077
Amounts not recognised due to effect of asset ceiling (18,023) -
Additional Hability recognised due to minimum funding requirements (14,020) -
Actuarial gains recognised in other comprehensive income 15,017 22,705
Analysis of changes in the fair value of the scheme assets during the year
2023 2022
L'000 £'000
Fair value of scheme assets at the beginning of the year 180,348 164,050
[nterest income 4,704 3,359
Actuarial (losses)/gains (7,348) 12,731
Contrdbutions by employers 3,572 3,852
Contributions by members 584 617
Benefits paid (4,845) (4,316)
Estumated unfunded benefits paid “@) @
Estimated contributions in respect of unfunded benefits paid 4 4
Effect of business combinations and disposals (2,459) 355
Effect of settlement - -
Fair value of the scheme assets at the end of the year 174,556 180,348

The effect of business combinations and disposals in the year ended 31 March 2023 relates to the contract

ending with Great Yarmouth Borough Council.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

27. Pensions and employee henefit chligations (continued)

Analysis of changes in the present value of the scheme liabilities during the year

2023 2022

£'000 £000

Present value of scheme liabilities at the start of the year 208,262 212,481
Cutrent and past service costs 4,180 4,423
Interest cost 5,448 4,337
Contributtons by members 584 617
Benefigs paid (4,845) {4,316)
Estimated unfunded benefits paid 4 €]
Actuarial gains (54,408) (9,974)
Effect of business combinatdons and disposals (2,684) 698
Effect of settlements - -
Present value of the scheme kabilities at the end of the year 156,533 208,262

The cumulative amount of actuartal gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income at 31
March 2023 was a net loss of £9.797k (2022: net loss of £34,152k;.

The effect of business combinations and disposals in the year ended 31 March 2023 relates to the conuact
ending with Great Yarmouth Borough Council,

Future funding obligation
The directors anticipate that contributions of approximately £3,396k (2022: £3,478k) will be paid in
respect of the defined benefit schemes in the year to 31 March 2024,

This consists of the following contributions:

2023 2022

£'000 £1000

Norse Commercial Services Limited 1,272 1,250
GYB Services Limited - 402
Suffelk Coastal Norse Limited in 752
Evolve Norse Limited 317 226
NPS South West Limited 1,379 708
NPS Socuth East Limited 117 140

3,396 3,478
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

27.Pensions and employee benefit obligations {(continued)

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligations to changes in principal actuarial assumptions is shown

hf‘l(\‘l"
Change in Increase in

assumption Deficit

£000

Rate of increase in salaties +0.1% 326
Rate of increase in pensions in payment +0.1% 2,382
Discount rate -1.0% 28,625
ife expectancy + 1 year 6,242

Defined contribution pension schemes
The Group operates a number of defined contdbution retitement benefit schemes for qualifying
employees. The assets of the schemes are held sepatately from those of the group in funds controlled by

the scheme providers.

The Group also makes contributions to 2 number of local government defined benefit pension schemes
which ate accounted for as being contributions to defined contriburtion schemes.

During the year the group paid contributions of £7,919%k (2022: £7,519k) to defined contribution
schemes.

28. Contingent liabilities

The group has a contingenr liability for performance bonds issued in the normal course of business. The
value of unexpired performance bonds in issue at the year end was 1,205k (2022: £1,205k)

Capital commitments
At the year end the Group was committed to further capital expendinare of £3,297k (2022: {790k).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

29. Related party transactions

Transactions with related parues
The Group had the following transactions in the normal course of trade with related parties:

2023: Sales Putrchases Receivables Payables
£'000 £1000 L£'000 _£'000

Notfolk County Council 98,405 2,859 12,555 2.611
Devon County Council 6,942 1,010 802 252
London Borough of Waltham Forest 3,118 149 316 -
Norwich City Council 3,757 287 7,564 1,685
Leeds City Council 5,102 1 630 842
Hull City Council 9,725 167 1,748 654
Peterborough City Council 1,611 248 225 147
Great Yarmouth Borough Council 14,367 565 2,655 740
Havant Borough Council 11,674 - 2,568 -
Medway Council 29,122 1,672 906 379
Suffolk County Council 312 2,311 33 565
East Suffolk Council 19,952 2 3,265 2,009
North Nerthamptonshire Council 2 105 - -
Newport City Council 21,273 1,501 3,302 1,480
Broadland District Council 727 62 63 35
Breckland District Council 468 93 52 119
Botrough Council of King's Lynn & West Notfolk 26 - 270 -
North Notfolk District Council 693 23 120 94
South Norfolk District Council 543 137 60 86
West Northamptonshire District Council 4,203 140 64 121
Wigan Metropolitan Borough Council 86 3 2 -
Ambet Valley Borough Council 3,559 185 755 27
Untlesford District Council 8,159 192 1,732 270
High Peak Borough Council 10,238 8 220 1,986
Staffordshire Moorlands Districe Council 1,398 - 1 769
Rochford District Council 2,869 - 66 244
Adnams PLC* 34 - - -
The Forum Trust Limited* 28 - - -
YPO Procutement Holdings Limited* 2 13 - -
Hull Culture and Leisure Limited* 62 - - -
California Sands Holiday Park Limited* 28 - 1 -
Norwich City Services Limited* - 41 - -
Norwich Historic Churches Trust Limited* 6 - - -
Norwich School* 243 - 37 -
ORBIS Associate Limited* - 3 - -
Cornerstone Property Assets Limited* 2 - - -
1 - . .

Little Squirrels Play Forest Limited*

The related parties consist of the ulfimate parent undertaking (Notfolk County Council}, other parties to
the partnerships that are in place within the Group and other interests of the directors of Norse Group
Limited and its subsidiaries (*).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

29. Related party transactions {continued)

2022: Sales  Purchases Recetvables Payables

L£000 L£'000 __£'000 L1000
Norfolk County Council 97,132 3,017 10,728 2,923
Devon County Council 7,718 147 917 1,008
London Borough of Waltham Forest 4318 59 593 102
Basnsley Meaopolitan Council 2,149 435 350 a5
Norwich City Council 13,309 471 9,481 1,333
Leeds City Council 4,357 460 524 624
Hull City Council 9,230 184 1,369 4
Peterborough City Council 1,754 260 87 218
Great Yarmouth Borough Council 12,819 382 1,719 1,351
Havant Borough Council 10,260 - 412 -
Medway Council 28,256 715 2,195 1,688
Suffolk County Council 1,368 2,329 30 500
East Suffolk Council 18,284 34 467 1,059
North Northamptonshire Council 5,491 530 416 334
Newport City Council 15,874 99 1,052 1,990
Broadland District Council 880 106 161 240
Breckland District Council 524 A 131 203
Borough Council of King's Lynn & West Notfolk 86 35 97 227
North Norfolk District Council 767 29 170 194
South Norfolk District Council 607 116 203 215
West Northamptonshire District Council 4,956 1,005 820 -
Wigan Metropolitan Borough Council 30 37 6 2
Amber Valley Borough Council 3,450 25 780 251
Utdesford District Council 6,482 74 4,090 160
Adnams PLC* 68 - - -
Norwich Regeneration Limited* 43 - 15 -
The Forum Trust Limited* 35 - 3 -
YPO Procurement Holdings Lirmired* - 23 - 6
Hull Culture and Leisure Limited* 83 - 2 -
California Sands Holiday Park Limired* 13 - - -
East Anglia’s Childrens Hospices™ 2 - - -
Repton Property Developments Limited* 50 - - -
Norwich City Services Limited 51 136 3 2
Norwich Historic Churches Trust Limited 5 - - -

The creditor balances above do not include loans from Norfolk County Council. These are separately
disclosed within note 24. Interest of £691k {2022: £318k) was charged by Norfolk County Council on

thesc loans in the year.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

29. Related party transactions (continued)

Transactions with joint ventures and associates
During the year the group paid various expenses on behalf of Beartie Passive Norse Limited. At the year-
end a balance of £941k (2022: £895k) was due from Beattie Passive Norse Limited. Of this amount, £Nil

(2022: £Nil) has been provided for.

During the year the group made sales of £18k (2022: £83k} to Broadland Growth Limned. At the year
end a balance of £12k (2022: £9k) was due from Broadland Growth Limited.

During the year the group made sales of £275k (2022: £292k) to Mid Suffolk Growth Limited. At the year
end a balance of £ 1,490k (2022: £1,250k) was due from Mid Suffolk Growth Limited. At the year end a

balance of £5k {2022: £10k) was due to Mid Suffolk Growth Limited.

During the year the group made sales of £ 184k (2022: £93k) to Babergh Growth Limited. Ar the year end
a balance of £465k (2022: £778) was due from Babergh Growth Limired. At the year end a balance of £5k
(2022: £10k) was due to Babergh Growth Limited.

Audit exemptions for the Norse Group Subsidiaries
During the year Norse Group Limited has provided a parental guarantee in accordance with Section 47%a
and 479c of the Companies Act 2006 on behalf of the following subsidiaries, in order to provide them

with exemption from audit of their individual financial statements:

Norse Commercial Services Limited

NPS Property Consultants Limited

Norse Care Limited

Norse Care (Services) Limited
International Aviation Academy ~ Norwich
Limited

Hamson Barron Smith Limited

Norse Epergy Limned

Norse Energy (BSOC) Limtted

Norse Energy (BSOC BIOMASS) Limited
Norse Energy (STOKE GIFFORD) Limited
Norse Energy (HAFOD) Limited

Norse Development Company Limited
NPS South East Limited

Norse Group Holdings Limited

Norse Eastern Limited

Norse Transport

Norfolk Environmental Waste Services Limited
Eventguard Limited

Suffolk Norse Transport

Norse Consuling Group Limited
Norwich Norse (Environmental) Limited
INPS Barnsley Limited

Enfield Norse Limited

NPS NW Limited

Norwich Norse (Building) Limited

INPS Norwich Limited

Suffolk Norse Limited

NPS South West Limited

Barnsley Norse Limited
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Notes to the company financial statements

29. Related party transactions (continued)

Transactions with key management personnel

Key management are the directors of Norse Group along with certain executive directors of Norse
Consulting Gronp, Norse Commercial Services, Norse Care and Norse Group Holdings. Key
management personnel rermunetation includes the following expenses:

2023 2022

L£'000 £000

Salares and short-term employee benefits 244 577
Post-emnployment benefits - contributons ro defined bencfit pension plans 51 k)|
295 608

Total remuneration

There were ne other transactions with key management personnef in either the current or preceding year.
See note 7 for disclosure of the directors’ remuneration.

30. Non-controlling interests

£'000 L0006
At 1 Aprl 2022 and 1 April 2021 (1,095) (1,669)
Profit attributable to non-controlling interest 121 1,808
Other comprehensive income/{expense) attibutable to non-controlling
interest 2,089 (1.234)
At 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 1,115 (1,095)
31. Share capital
Allotied, called up and fully paid:
2023 2022
Number £'000 Number £'000

Ordinary shares of {1 each 11,964,404 11,964 11,964,404 11,964
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32. Reserves

Capital contribution reserve

The Capital contribution reserve is used to record the capiral contribution from the transfer of treehold
property {tom the ultimate parent company; Notfolk County Council.

Retained eamings/(accumulated losses)
Includes all current and prior year retained profits and accumulated losses.

Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve includes revaluation gains in respect of freehold property. This reserve is not a
distributable reserve.
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33. Notes to the statement of cash flows

The following non-cash flow adjustments and adjustments for changes in working capital have been made
to loss before taxation to arrive at operating cash flow:

Adjustments
2023 2022

£'000 L1000
Amortisation 91 99
Depreciation 10,767 11,396
(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (1,21%) 49
Finance income (256) -
Finance costs 1,595 1,494
Finance costs in respect of defined benefit pension scheme 744 978
Current and past service costs in respect of defined benefit pension scheme 3,951 4,762
Share of {profit)/loss from equity accounted investments (20) 71
Impairment of Goodwill - 4,397
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 4,594 7,478
Total adjustments 20,247 30,724
Net changes in working capital

2023 2022

£'000 £1000
Change in inventories 42 (374)
Change in trade and other recetvables (3,351) 10,208
Change in trade and other payables (1,301) {13,903)
Change in provisions 1,205 427
Total changes in working capital (3,405) (3.642)

34. Ultimate controlling undertaking

The uldmate controlling party is Norfolk County Council by virtue of its ownership of 100% of the
ordinary share capiral of the company. The registered office address of Norfolk County Council is County
Hall, Martineau Lane, Norwich, Norfolk, NR1 2DH.

Norse Group Limited 1s included within the consolidated financial statements of Notfolk County Council.
Copies of the financial statements can be found at www.norfolk.gov.uk

The smallest and largest Group to consolidate these financial statements is Norfolk County Council.
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Independent auditors’ report to the members
of Norse Group Limited

Report on the audit of the company financial statements

Opinion
In our gpinion, Norse Group Limited's company financial statements:

+ give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 March 2023 and of its result for the year then ended;

+ have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting
Standards, including FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and applicable law); and

« have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006,

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Financial Statements (the "Annual Report”), which comprise: the company
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023; the company statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; and the notes to
the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Intemational Standards on Auditing (UK} ("!SAs (UK)") and applicabie law. Cur responsibilities
under 1SAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

tndependence
We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are refevant to our audit of the financial statements
in the UK, which inciudes the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfitted our other ethical responsibilities in accomance with these

requirements.

Conclusions relating to going concern
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or
collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concem for a period of at least tweive months from

when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

in auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the members’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation
of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not ajl fulure events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the company's ability to
continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibitities of the members with respect to going concem are described in the relevant sections of this report.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annuat Report other than the financial statemeants and our auditors’ report thereon.
The members are responsible for the other information. Qur opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and,
accordingly, we do noi express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise expiicitly stated in this repot, any form of assurance thereon.



In connection with our audit of the financial statements, cur responsibility is to read the other information and, in deing so, consider whether
the other information is materiaily inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. |f we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to
conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to repart based on these responsibitities.

With respect to the Strategic report and Report of the directors, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK Companies
Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2008 requires us also to report certain opinions and matters as
described below.

Strategic report and Report of the directors

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic report and Reporl of the directors
for the year ended 31 March 2023 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in agcordance with applicable legal
requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not identify any
material misstatements in the Strategic report and Report of the directors.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the members for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of direciors’ responsibilities in respect of the financial statements, the members are responsible for
the preparation of the financial statemenis in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view. The members are also responsible for such internat control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

in preparing the financial statements, the members are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going cencern basis of accounting unless the members either intend
to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic aiternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion. Reascnable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs {UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
respensibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of iregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the company and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations
related to UK tax legislation, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements.
We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the financial statements such as Companies Act 2006. We
evaluated management's incentives and opporiunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of override of
controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to misstatement of financial information via inappropriate journal entries and/or
management bias in key accounting estimates. Audit procedures performed by the engagement team included:

* Making enquiries with management, including consideration of known or suspected instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations;
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s Reviewing minutes of meetings in the year and up to date approval of the financial statements;
+ Enquiring with management about any litigation and claims %o identify any such undisclosed issues;
» ldentifying and testing joumnals meeting specified criteria considered to be unusual or indicative of potential fraud;

¢ Evaiuating management’s controls designed to prevent and detect irregularities; and
» Testing the appropriateness of key estimates made by management to identify any deliberate misstatements in the financial statements.

There are inherant limitationg in the audit puuwedules vestrbed above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of non-compliance
with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the financial statements. Aisg, the risk of not
detecling 2 material misstaternent due to fraud is higher than the risk of nat detecting ane resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate
concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrapresentations, or through collusion.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial stalements is located on the FRC's website at:
wwaw fre.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors' repen.

Use of this report

This repoi, inciuding the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for ne other purpose. We do not, in giving these epinions, accept or assume responsibility for any
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior

consent in writing.
Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Cornpanies Act 2006 we are required fo report to you if, in our opinion:

¢ we have not oblained all the information and explanations we réquire for our audit, or
s adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches

not visited by us; or
« certain disclosures of members' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
s the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting recerds and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility

Other matter

We have reported separately on the group financial statements of Norse Group Limited for the year ended 31 March 2023.

e

Paul Norbury (Senior Statutery Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaternouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
East Midiands

13 October 2023
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Company statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023

31 March 31 March

2023 2022
Note £'000 £'000
Fixed assets

Investments 5 11,964 11,964
Net assets 11,964 11,964

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 6 11,964 11,964
11,964 11,964

Total equity

During the year the company generated a result of NIl (2022: LINiD),

These financial statements on pages 90 to 97 were approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its
behalf by:

J F L C Galliford
Chief Executive Officer

Date: ’3 ]O Zoz_z

The sccompanying cccounting policies anc notes on puges 72 o ¥ form an tniegra’ Dart of these

Grancial statements,
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Company statement of changes in equity for the year ended
31 March 2023

Called up Retained Total equity
Share capital  Earnings

£'000 £'000 £'000
At 1 April 2021 11,964 - 11,904
Result for the year - - -
Total comprehensive income for the year - - -
Balance at 31 March 2022 11,964 - 11,964
Result for the year - - -
Total comprehensive income for the year - - -
Balance at 31 March 2023 11,964 - 11,964

The accompanviog sccounting poiicics and notes on pages 92 10 97 Srm an mrtegral purt of these

financial statements,
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Company Financial statemerys for the year enass 37 March 2023

Notes to the company financial statements

1. General information

The company is a private company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled ir: the UK. The address
of its registered office is 280 Fifers Lane, Norwich, Norfolk, NRG 6EQ.

The group provide facilities management services, property consultancy services and residential and social

rare Services.
2. Statement of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the yeats presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1. Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention unless otherwise
specified within these accounting policies and in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101
'"Reduced Disclosure Framework’ and the Companies Act 2006 as applicable to companies using FRS 101.
The financiai statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

'The company has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemnptions under FRS 101:

- The requirements of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

- Paragraphs 91 to 99 of IFRS 13, ‘Fair value measurement’ (disclosure of valuation techniques and tiputs
used for fair value measurement of assets and Habilities).

- Paragraph 38 of TAS 1, Presentation of financial statements’ comparative information requirements in
respect of:

{1) paragraph 79(a}(iv) of IAS 1;

(i1} patagraph 73(e) of IAS 16 Property, plant and cquipment;

(iif) paragraph 118(e) of IAS 38 Intangible assets (reconciliations between the carrying amounrt ar the
beginning and end of the period).

- The following paragraphs of TIAS 1, Presentation of financial statements™
- 10(d), {statement of cash flows)
- 16 (statement of compliance with all IFRS),
- 38A {requirement for minimum of two primary statements, including cash flow statements),
- 38B-D (additional comparative informaticon),
- 111 (cash flow statement information), and
- 134 1306 (capital management disclosures)

- The requirements of 1AS 7 Statement of Cash Flows
- The requirements of paragraph 17 and 18A of 1AS 24 Related Party Disclosures and Key Management

Compensation.

A separate Income statement for the parent company is omitted from the parent company financial
statements by virtue of section 408 of the Companies Act 2006. The company did not tade during the

year.
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Notes to the company financial statements

2. Statement of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.2. Investments

Investments held by the company represent investrnents in subsidiary undertakings and are recorded at
cost, less provision for impairment.

2.3. Financial instruments

Financial labilies and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of the entity after deducting all of its financial liabilites.

Where the contractual obligations of financia! insttuments (including share capital) are equivalent to a
similar debt instrument, those financial instruments are classed as financial liabilittes. Financial liabilides
are presented as such in the balance sheet. Financial costs are calculated so as to produce a constant rate
of return on the oulstanding liability.

Where the contracmal terms of share capital do not have any terms meeting the definition of & financial

liability then this is classed as an equity instrument. Dividends and distributons relating to equity
insttuments are debited direct to equity.

Employee numbers

The company has no employees (2022: none).

. Directors’ emoluments

The company paid /nil in directors’ emoluments during the year (2022: £nil). Three (2022: seven) of the
directors received no remuneration for the services provided to the company The remaining three
directors were paid by Norse Commercial Services Limited with no recharge.
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Notes to the company financial statements

5. Investments

Direct subsidiary undertakings
Norse Consulting Group Limited
Norse Commetcial Services Lirited
MNorse Care Limited
Notse Group Holdings Limired

Indirect subsidiary undertakings
NPS North East Limited
NPS North West Limited
NS Stockport Limited
Evolve Norse [imited
NPS South West Limited
NPS Humber Limited
NPS Socuth East Limited
Hamson Barron Smith Limited
NPS Bamsley Limited
Barnsley Nosse Limited
NPS Leeds Limited
NPS Norwich Limited
Norwich Norse (Environmental) Limited
Norwich Norse (Buitding) Limited
Norse Enetrgy Limited
Nogse Energy (Hafod} Limited
Norse Energy (Stoke Gifford) Limited
Norse Energy (BSCC) Limited
MNorse Energy (BSCC Biomass) Limited
NPS Peterborough Limited
Norse Eastern Limited
Norse Transport
GYB Services Limired
Suffolk Coastal Norse Limited
Enfield Norse Limited
Waveney Norse Limited
Eventguard Limited
Norse South West Limited
Wellingborough Norse Limited
Suffolk Norse Limited
Suftolk Norse Transport
Great Yarmouth Norse Limited
Medway Norse Limired
Medway Norse Transport
Norse South Fast Timited
West Northamptonshire Norse Limited

Type of
Share
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary
Otrdinary
Otdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Otrdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Holding Narture of business

100%
100%¢
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%
80%
80%%
6%
100%
100%
100%
100%
80%0
80%6
64%0
64%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%:
80%
100%

60%
100%
100%

80%
100%

80%

80%

80%

80%
80%

80%
80%

Property consultants
Providing council services
Providing care services
Holding company

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Propetty consultants
Property consultants
Property consultants
Property consultants
Property consultants
Propetty consultants
Providing council services
Property consultants
Property consultants
Providing council services
Providing council services
Renewable energy products
Renewable energy products
Renewable energy products
Renewable energy products
Renewable energy products
Property consultants
Providing coundl services
Providing transport services
Providing council services
Providing council services
Dormant

Providing council services
Dormant

Providing council services
Providing council services
Dormant

Dormant

Providing council services
Providing council services
Providing cransport services
Providing council services
Providing council services

£
-
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Notes to the company financial statements

8. Investments {continucd)

Type of
Indirect subsidiary undertakings Share Holding Naturc of business
Newport Norse Limited Ordinary 80% Providing council services
Norfolk Environmental Waste Services Limited = Ordinary  100% Waste management services
Addfill Timited Ordinary 1009  Dormant
Notse Environmental Waste Services Limnited Ordinary 51% Waste management services
NPS Newport Limited Ordmary 80% Dormant
Norse Care Services Limited Ordinary  100% Providing cate services
NPS Infinity Limited Ordinary  100% Dormant
NPS Group Limited Ordinary  100% Dormnant
NPS North London Limited Ordinary  100% Dormant
Hearth UK Limited Ordinary  100% Dormant
Hearth 17K (Freter) Limited Ordinary 1009 Dormant
Peterborough Notse Limited Ordinary  100% Dormant
Norse Development Company Limited Ordinary  100% Property ownership
International Aviation Academy Norwich Limited Otdinary  100% Academic training facility
NTPS NW Limited Ordinary  100% Dormant
Utdesford Norse Services Limited Ordinary 80% Providing council services
Amber Valley Norse Limited Ordinary 80G% Providing council services
NPS Property Consultants Limited Ordinary  100% Property consultants
Rochford Norse Limited Ordinary 80% Waste management services
Alliance Notrse Limited Ordinary 75% Property services
East Hampshire Norse Limited Ordinary 80% Providing council services

Naorse Transport, Suffolk Norse Transpott and Medway Norse Transport are all limited by guarantee and,
not having any share capital, are controlled by Norse Commercial Services Limited.

The registered office for all subsidiaries is 280 Fifers Lane, Norwich, Norfolk, NR6 6EQ.

Joint ventures
NPS Property Consultants Limited owns 50% of the issued share capital of Beatae Passive Norse Limited

(a company incorporated in the United Kingdom). The principal activity of the joint venture is the
construction of energy efficient buildings.

Norse Group Holdings Limited owns 30% of the issued share of Broadland Growth Limited, a company
registered i1 the United Kingdom. The principal activity of the company is property construction and
development.

Norse Group Holdings Limited owns 50% of the issued share capital of Mid Suffolk Growth Limited
{M3G7}, a2 company incorporated in the United Kingdom. The principal activity of the company is
property development.

Norse Group Holdings Limited owns 50% of the issued share capital of Babergh Growth Limited
‘BAB’), a company incorporated in the United Kingdom. The principal acuvity of the company is
property development.

Norse Group Holdings Limited owns 50% of the issued share capital of Caldecott Developments
Limited, 2 company incorporated in the Unired Kingdom. The principal acuvity of the company is
property development.
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Notes to the company financial statements

$. Investments (continued)

Group
Company companies
£'000
Cost and net book value
At 1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 11,964
6. Called Up Share Capital
Authorised share capital:
2023 2022
B £000 _£'000
11,964,404 (2022: 11,904,404) Ordinary shares of £1 each 11,964 11,964
Allotred, called up and fully paid:
2023 2022
Number £'000 Number L1000
Ordinary shares of {1 each 11,964,404 11,964 11,964,404 11,964
7. Reserves
Retained
earnings
£'000

At 1 Apnl 2022 -
Result for the financial year
Dividends paid

At 31 March 2023 -

8. Profit attributable to members of the parent company

The result dealt within the {inancial statements of the parent company was [INil (2022: £Nil).

9. Related party transactions

The company has taken advantage of the exemptions available under Financial Reporting Standard 101,
paragraph 8(k), whereby wholly owned group undextakings do not have to disclose transactions with other
wholly owned members of that group. Accordingly, there are no transactions which are required to be
disclosed in relation to the company.

See note 4 for details of remuneration paid to directors of the company.
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10. Controlling party

The ultmate controlling party is Norfolk County Council by virtue of its ownership of 100% of the
ordinary share capiral of the company. The registered office address of Norfolk County Council is County

Hzll, Martineau Lane, Norwich, Norfolk, NR1 2IDH.

Norse Group Limited is included within the corsolidated financial statements of Norfolk County Council
which are available on www norfolk.gov.uk.

The smallest Group to consolidate these financial statements is Norse Group Limited. The largest Group
to consolidate these financial statements is Norfolk County Council.




